
STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD
AGENDA

Venue: Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ 

Date: Tuesday, 26th June, 2018
Time: 2.00 pm
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby              Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on  14 April 2018 1 - 2

4. Appointment of Deputy Chair 

5. Copeland Borough Council Nuclear Position Statements 2018 3 - 12

6. Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM) Report - Impact 
on Radioactive Waste Management from the UKs withdrawal from the EU 
and the Euratom Treaty. 

13 - 14

7. Consultation on the Regulation of Nuclear Sites in the Final Stages of De-
Commissioning and Clean-Up. 

15 - 26

8. NuLeAF Work Programme 2018/19. 27 - 40

9. Nuclear Projects Update. 41 - 60

10. Planning update 

11. Date and Time of Next Meeting 

Membership: Councillors Raymond Gill (Chair), Yvonne Clarkson, Peter Connolly, 
Gwynneth Everett, Linda Jones-Bulman, David Moore and Felicity Wilson.

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY, 17 APRIL 2018

Present: Councillors David Moore (Chair); Yvonne Clarkson, Peter Connolly, 
Gwynneth Everett, Linda Jones-Bulman and Felicity Wilson

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors: Raymond Gill.

Officers: Steve Smith (Interim Nuclear Projects Manager), Catherine Little (Nuclear Projects & 
Programmes Technical Support Officer) and Heather Morrison (Senior Planning Officer).

SN 17/46 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Ray Gill.

SN 17/47 Declarations of Interest 

There were no Declarations of Interests made at this meeting.

SN 17/48 Minutes of the Meeting held on  6 March 2018 

RESOLVED – that the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 March 2018 be signed by the Chair as 
a correct record.

SN 17/49 Implementing Geological Disposal - Consideration of Draft Council Responses to 
Government Consultations on 

a A Draft National Policy Statement for Geological Disposal Infrastructure 

b Working with Communities 

Members recalled that at the Board meeting in March agreement was made to a process of 
developing consultation responses to the above two consultations which were launched by 
Government on 25th January. The closing date for receipt of final submissions being 19th 
April 2018.

The responses have, principally been developed through a process of Council Member 
workshops held on 20th and 27th March. In addition, officers attended a number of 
Government-led workshops held at various locations around the country and Members 
received a presentation from BEIS officials as part of the Government’s programme of 
engagement with Cumbrian communities on 19th March. Finally as members of NuLeAF (the 
Nuclear Legacy Advisory Forum), which is the Local Government Association (LGA) 
representative body on legacy wastes and decommissioning, the Council attended a 
workshop on 21st March where BEIS officials presented on the proposals for ‘Working with 
Communities’.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



During the discussion the Nuclear Projects & Programme Manager highlighted key issues for 
the Council contained within the draft consultation responses and sought Members 
comments for inclusion within the final draft.

RESOLVED – that the draft consultation responses as amended be agreed and submitted to 
BEIS, subject to Executive approval on 24th April 2018

SN 17/50 Nuclear Position Statement 

The Nuclear Projects & Programme Manager reported on the progress to prepare revised 
Nuclear Position Statements and circulated copies of the latest draft for Members 
consideration. 

RESOLVED – that the final draft of the Nuclear Position Statements will be submitted for 
Members consideration at the next meeting.

SN 17/51 Planning Update 

The Senior Planning Officer provided the Board with an update of developments at Sellafield 
Limited.

RESOLVED:- That the Update be noted.

The Meeting closed at 12.45 pm 

Chair

Page 2



 

 
Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board 260618 
 
 

Copeland Borough Council Nuclear Position Statements 2018 
 

  
LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham 
REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Smith 
 
 

Summary and Recommendation: 
 
Originally produced in 2015 the Council’s Nuclear Position Statements recognise the 
significant impact that the nuclear industry and its component parts has on the 
communities, economic well-being and the environment of the Borough. 
  
The statements aim to provide a consistent position for Members and officers for the 
Council’s future engagement with our nuclear partners, communities and the supply chain.  
 
Members are asked to provide comments on/endorse the Statements for onward 
consideration by Executive. 
 

 
 
1. Copeland Borough Council Nuclear Position Statements 

 
1.1 Context for the Position Statements 
 

 In recognition of the significant role that the nuclear sector plays in the well-being of 
Copeland communities the Council have previously produced Nuclear Position 
Statements in 2015. Attached as Appendix A is an updated version of the statements.  

 
1.2 Scope of the Position Statements 
 

The document identifies; 
 

 The purpose of the statements – to provide a consistent position to aid the Council’s 
engagement with the nuclear industry  
 

 The range of recent developments in terms of policy drivers that have occurred at an 
international and national level which justify a review of the Council’s position 
statements   

 

 A summary of why the Nuclear Sector is important to Copeland – and vice-versa! 
 

 How the nuclear sector could contribute to the Council’s strategic ambitions 
particularly in relation to the Council’s Growth Strategy and Copeland’s position as 
the focal point of the UK Centre of Nuclear Excellence (CoNE) 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 A range of nuclear sector–wide position statements covering the following themes; 
o Community 
o Environment 
o Economy 
o Social value 

 

 A range of position statements relating to specific project, sites and issues including; 
o The Moorside Project and other future nuclear missions 
o Centre of Nuclear Excellence (CoNE) 
o Nuclear Materials Management and Disposal 
o Low Level Waste Repository 
o Sellafield 
o Safety and Resilience 
o Implementing Geological Disposal of Higher Activity Radioactive Wastes 

 
 
2. Way Forward 

 
Members are asked to provide any comments on the statements with a view to a 
final draft version being submitted to Executive for endorsement. 

 

  

Page 4



 

Appendix A 

Copeland Borough Council Nuclear Position Statements – 2018 

 

1. Background and Policy Drivers 

 

1.1 The Copeland Borough Council’s Nuclear Position Statements exist to provide a 

consistent position for the Council’s future engagement with the nuclear industry 

and to support the Council’s Corporate Policies and Strategies.  

Activities of the nuclear sector cut across the full range of Council services and have 

a significant impact on the local economy. The nuclear sector is identified as a key 

sector in the Council’s Economic Strategy aimed at supporting the future well-being 

of local communities and businesses.  

 

1.2 The following recent developments create challenges and opportunities for the 
nuclear sector across the UK and locally and justify a review of the Council’s current 
position: 

 

 Implications of Brexit and other geo-political issues 

 Government Industrial Strategy and Nuclear Sector Deal, especially referencing 

how these documents link to Sellafield (& thus Copeland) with the largest 

concentration of nuclear facilities in the UK 

 Expectations that Government will publish a national policy linking Low Level 

Waste (LLW), Intermediate Level Waste (ILW) and High Level Waste (HLW) into a 

single ‘Integrated Waste Management’ strategy for radioactive waste 

 Continued challenges  in progressing the next stages of the UK Government’s 

‘Implementing Geological Disposal’ strategy 

 NAO and Holliday reports into the awarding of the MAGNOX contract by the 

Nuclear Decommissioning Authority’ (NDA) and its future 

 Publication of a revised business plan by the NDA setting priorities for action for 

the next 3 years across the NDA estate 

 Government policy to end the reprocessing of spent nuclear fuel at Sellafield and 

the associated move of the site towards decommissioning and providing a 

national role for radioactive waste storage. (see Sellafield Corporate Strategy, 

Transformation and Context Plan) 

 Future developments at the national Low Level Waste Repository (LLWR) including 

the potential for Near Surface Disposal (NSD) of Intermediate Level Waste (ILW) 

 The prospect of new nuclear missions and associated skills requirements, 

including, for example the sectors/Central Government aspiration to develop 

Small Modular Reactors (SMRs) and the future of the UK’s Plutonium reserves 

 The announcement by NuGeneration Ltd (NuGen) to ‘pause’ the Moorside Project 

whilst they undertake a ‘strategic review’ of the project 

Page 5



 

 The implications of the NuGen pause and the subsequent pause for the National 

Grid North West Coast Connections (NWCC) Project. 

 

2. Why is the Nuclear Sector important to Copeland and vice versa 

 

2.1 Copeland’s communities have a long history of engagement with the nuclear sector 

dating back to the 1940’s. The sector has a significant impact on local communities 

and businesses. The sector supports 27000 jobs in Cumbria, which equates to 34% 

of the UK nuclear workforce. The Sellafield site alone supports 54.9% of all jobs in 

Copeland and 55.4% of Copeland’s Gross Value Added (GVA). 86% of Sellafield Ltd.’s 

11,000 workforce is based at the site in Copeland. The Borough is home to a range 

of nationally significant facilities related to the sector as well as the Sellafield site, 

including; 

 

 The national Low Level Waste Repository 

 The headquarters of the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA) 

 The main facility of the National Nuclear Laboratory (NNL) 

 The Manchester University Dalton Nuclear Institute which provides high-end 

research in radiation science and nuclear engineering decommissioning 

 The northern hub of the National College for Nuclear (NCfN) 

 The UK Centre of Nuclear Excellence (CoNE) 

 The Moorside site, identified as one of only 8 sites in the UK for a new nuclear 

power station 

 A regional cluster of nuclear-related engineering and manufacturing businesses 

 

2.2 At the heart of the UK Centre for Nuclear Excellence (CoNE) the Borough currently 

hosts facilities for spent fuel reprocessing, training and R&D, innovation and 

technical development, radioactive waste management, storage and disposal all 

focused on supporting the nuclear sector. In addition, the Borough is home to many 

of the leading names in the nuclear supply chain.  

 

3. Strategic Ambitions for the Nuclear Sector in Copeland 

 

3.1 Copeland Borough Council’s aspirations for the future of the local economy are set 

out in the Council’s Growth Strategy 2016 -2020. The Council aims to secure a 

sustainable, diverse economy which maximises the benefits of nuclear energy 

related development and which supports the delivery of the energy needs of 

today’s society without compromising either the environment, community safety or 

other future needs of our community.  

 

3.2 Copeland is recognised as being at the UK Centre of Nuclear Excellence (CoNE) 

thanks to its wealth of expertise in the nuclear sector. CoNE brings together the 

wide range of nuclear related organisations and people in the locality providing a 

centre of specialist skills, innovation and a place to do business. As a growth priority 

Page 6



 

Copeland aims to strengthen its position as the Centre of Nuclear Excellence, to 

provide the full cycle of nuclear services from expertise in decommissioning and 

waste management through to securing nuclear new build and support the 

diversification of the nuclear industry through growing private sector investment in 

research and development, engineering and new technology.  

 

3.3 Our approach is focused on the commercialisation of nuclear opportunities into 
new markets, creating a test-bed of new technology and engineering solutions. 
Specific opportunities exist through; 
 

i. Decommissioning – supporting Sellafield and its supply chain to develop and 

deliver solutions for the long term decommissioning programme locally, across the 

Uk and the export market;  

ii. Waste management – designing, developing and delivering the safe management 

of nuclear legacy waste;  

iii. Design and engineering – developing new technology, robotics and engineering 

designed to operate in hazardous and remote locations;  

iv. Research and Development (R&D) – working with nationally renowned partners 

including the National Nuclear Laboratory, the University of Manchester, 

University of Central Lancashire (UCLAN), University of Cumbria and the local 

supply chain;  

v. Global advisory role – developing our position as expert advisor to the nuclear 

industry through existing contracts and Sellafield Ltd.’s role in providing technical 

expertise to the Fukushima clean-up operation;  

vi. New nuclear build – supporting new  and small modular reactor development, 

including potential plutonium re-use 

vii. Inward Investment – attracting wider business activities from across the full 

spectrum of the industry 

 

3.4 To achieve these ambitions the Council will continue to engage with external 

stakeholders in the nuclear sector, work with other national Government and local 

authority partners, including through national organisations such as NuLeaf and 

NNLAG, and continue to carry out its statutory and regulatory roles as they relate to 

the sector. The Council will work proactively with public and private partners, 

including through the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), to optimise 

existing infrastructure and where appropriate seek to secure the necessary 

additional or upgraded physical and business infrastructure to promote business 

expansion, diversification and growth. We will work in partnership to ensure that 

planning and licensing regimes are coordinated to ensure that any requirements 

with regard to infrastructure or other safety measures, are accommodated through 

the planning process and built into the consideration of major projects. 

 

4. Nuclear sector-wide position statements 

Copeland Borough Council will expect the nuclear industry and its supply chain to; 

Page 7



 

4.1 Community 

o be a good and responsible neighbour 

o give safety and security the highest priority and continue to maintain the 

highest levels of safety and security whilst carrying out their operations in 

the Borough to ensure the protection of the workforce and local 

communities,  

o protect our communities and the local environment/landscapes and 

comply with current and future regulatory requirements 

 

4.2 Environment 

o seek to reduce both its carbon footprint and pressure on existing transport 

infrastructure by maximising the use of rail (and other forms of transport 

where feasible) over road 

o provide practical and functional transport solutions for both its operations 

and movement of its workforce both on and off site  

o where necessary contribute to the development of new physical and social 

infrastructure provision to mitigate the impacts of their development 

proposals 

o ensure that new development proposals accord with the Councils planning 

policies and contribute to our growth ambitions for our town centres and 

the wider borough 

o recognise the role of the Council as local planning authority and enter into 

discussions regarding development proposals early in the development 

process 

o provide practical solutions to waste 

treatment/storage/management/disposal in line with local and national 

policy and regulators requirements utilising where practical the waste 

hierarchy to minimise waste and maximise recycling of materials (nuclear 

and operational) 

o protect the natural resources of the Borough 

 

4.3 Economy 

o recognise the Council’s and wider Copeland communities aspirations to 

secure a sustainable, modern and diverse local economy, enhanced quality 

of life, and wealth creation for local communities 

o contribute to the development of a local, diverse and future-facing 

commercial and robust supply chain 

o engage local suppliers and support the development of the local SME base 

o employ local people and support access to employment in all its forms 

o contribute to the diversification and future-proofing of the local skill base 

through long term investment in skills and supporting access to 

employment  

o actively encourage inward investment into the Borough through suppliers 

o assist the diversification of the local economy through supporting the 

commercialisation of new technologies into new markets and new sectors 

 

Page 8



 

 

 

4.4  Social Value 

o deliver  social and economic benefits to the wider community as a key 

priority and responsibility 

o contribute to the growth of the Borough as articulated in the priorities 

contained within the Copeland Growth Strategy 

o ensure direct and indirect payment through the supply chain of the 

Voluntary Living Wage 

o support the delivery of socio-economic interventions where impact of their 

operations is identified within the Borough 

o recognise and respond to the economic challenge and opportunity of the 

Sellafield Transformation Plan 

 

5. Specific position statements 

  

5.1 The Moorside Project and other future nuclear missions 

 

5.1.1 Copeland Borough Council supports development of the nuclear industry, the 

maximum utilisation of existing sector assets in the Borough and the provision 

of new nuclear missions within Copeland, (including the Moorside Project, its 

related project National Grid’s North West Coast Connections, and  Small 

Modular Reactors), where they can demonstrate that they can; 

o make a positive contribution to the long-term economic well-being of local 

communities/businesses and the Councils Growth Strategy to avoid ‘boom 

and bust’ 

o provide a positive and long lasting legacy to the local community, and  

o adequately mitigate any adverse social, environmental, landscape, 

ecological and economic impacts  

o contribute to the objectives of the Governments Industrial Strategy and 

the Centre of Nuclear Excellence (CoNE) 

o secure the national asset of the nuclear skills base in Copeland 

5.1.2 The Council supports the re-use of plutonium as a key UK asset and endorses 

the Government-led approach to identify proposals to develop facilities for the 

re-use of plutonium in a safe and economically advantageous way. The 

Council’s view is that such facilities should be developed close to the 

plutonium store in Copeland. 

 

5.2 Centre of Nuclear Excellence (CoNE) 

 

5.2.1 The Council will continue to actively support the further development of the 

Centre of Nuclear Excellence (CoNE) and the continuous development, 

adaptation and reputational development of the sector in Copeland and the 

UK. 

Page 9



 

 

 

5.3 Nuclear Materials Management and Disposal 
 

5.3.1 Where the Borough is identified as the recipient location for the 
management/storage/disposal of nuclear/radioactive waste or materials in the 
nations interest, the Borough Council expects that a comprehensive approach 
needs to be developed for these receipts, so that arrangements for planning 
authority accountabilities, community acceptance and good governance can 
be properly discharged, and the impacts of the delivery on the wider Sellafield 
decommissioning programme can be understood. 
 

5.3.2 Copeland Borough Council supports the intention from Government and the 
NDA to move towards an Integrated Waste Management policy incorporating 
Low, Intermediate and High-Level Waste, but is opposed to the proliferation of 
nuclear waste disposal sites away from the existing nuclear licensed sites 
across Copeland. The Council will seek to form a view on the benefits or 
otherwise of proposals relating to the Near Surface Disposal (NSD) of 
Intermediate Level Wastes (ILW) and will await further information from the 
NDA on this approach before forming that view.  

 
5.4 Low Level Waste Repository 

 

5.4.1 Supports the continued operation of the National Low Level Waste Repository 
(LLWR) in the Borough and its proposals going forward, provided it is 
acceptable to the community, is environmentally acceptable, and, that the 
Borough continues to benefit from hosting this national facility and a final end 
state plan is agreed and implemented.  

 
5.5 Sellafield site 

 
5.5.1 The Council supports the efforts of the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority 

and Sellafield Ltd to accelerate the decommissioning of legacy facilities at 
Sellafield and, will work with the industry to ensure Government continues to 
fund and complete the mission at the site once the high-hazards are reduced 
to facilitate new missions and investment and to realise the investment made 
at the Sellafield site. 
 

5.5.2 The Council remains concerned at the incremental approach to Sellafield 
becoming the UK nuclear material consolidation site for the long term storage 
of high level wastes until a GDF is provided, a position this Council has not 
accepted. This outcome will have profound consequences for Copeland now 
and for many future generations. The Council will continue to develop its 
position in this regard and in doing so is seeking to ensure that economic and 
social benefits are secured, while minimising prejudicial outcomes for future 
generations providing a National service and to ensure that alternative 
economic opportunities aren’t excluded as a consequence. In the short term 
where interim/temporary stores are changed to permanent, long term stores 

Page 10



 

the Council will expect such proposals to generate additional benefits to 
reflect this changing role.  

 

5.5.3 The Council recognises that following the completion of THORP and Magnox 
reprocessing by 2020 the Sellafield site will change its focus to clean-up, 
decommissioning and interim storage of wastes and the Council will work with 
SL to ensure that the impact of the Transformation Plan on local communities 
is minimised and opportunities for the local supply chain and the Copeland 
economy are maximised.  

 

5.5.4 The Council recognises the value to the UK of the licensed Sellafield site, but 
will resist any plans to extend the site outside of its current boundary. Where 
new facilities are required to support the Sellafield mission but do not need to 
be sited on a licensed site the Council will support and encourage SL to locate 
such facilities in accordance with our local plan to contribute to our growth 
aspirations. We support the continued movement of non-operational staff and 
contractors off site and expect to see this approach to be embodied in an SL 
Accommodation Strategy. 

 

5.5.5 The Council remains concerned that the transport movement implications of 
the Sellafield site have a serious impact on the environment, communities and 
other activities in the locality and expect SL to review its current plans and 
prepare a comprehensive Transport and Movement Strategy for the 
management of the movement of goods and people across all of the SL sites 
within and across the Borough 

 

5.6 Safety and Resilience 

 

5.6.1 The Council will continue to actively support the multi-agency resilience 

arrangements for the Sellafield site, and will proactively engage with all parties 

and seek assurance that all safety measures adequately accommodate further 

nuclear growth, to ensure that our communities safety, economy and 

environment is at the heart of those arrangements. 

 

5.6.2 The Council expects to be involved in and have oversight of the emerging 

resilience arrangements as they develop between the Sellafield and Moorside 

sites. 

 

5.7 Implementing Geological Disposal of Higher Activity Radioactive Wastes 

 

5.7.1 The Council supports the Governments approach to the safe disposal of higher 

radioactive wastes through the provision of a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) 

and, as host community for the vast majority of the wastes that would be 

disposed of in the GDF, we will continue to press the Government to progress 

the process, recognising the risk to the environment and local communities 

that the current interim storage of this waste and the continued delay in 

bringing forward a site for a GDF, presents.  

Page 11



 

 

5.7.2 At this stage, the Council has no preference or position with regard to the 

location of the GDF locally or nationally but recognise that the Copeland 

community is affected regardless of the final choice of site for a GDF. 

 

5.7.3 The Council takes the view that the current planning assumption date for the 

provision of the GDF of 2040 is unrealistic and will seek from Government a 

more realistic timescale and information on what the plans are for long-term 

storage of these waste materials. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12



1 
 

 
Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board 260618 

 
Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM) Report - Impact on Radioactive Waste 
Management from the UK’s Withdrawal from the EU and the Euratom Treaty 
 

  
LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham 
REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Smith/Cath Little 
 

Summary and Recommendation: 
 
The purpose of this report is to inform Members of the publication ‘Impact on Radioactive Waste 
Management from the UK’s Withdrawal from the EU and the Euratom Treaty’  compiled by the 
Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM) at the request of the UK Government and 
the Governments of Scotland and Wales. 
 
Members are asked to consider the report and its key findings.  

 

 
 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM) provides independent scrutiny 

and advice to the UK governments on the long-term management of higher activity radioactive 
wastes.  

 

1.2 They have 12 members, who are experts in different aspects of radioactive waste management. 
Members are appointed by, and report to ministers from the Department for Business, Energy & 
Industrial Strategy, the Scottish government, the Welsh government and the Department of the 
Environment of Northern Ireland.  
 

1.3 The UK Government and the Governments of Scotland and Wales asked CoRWM to provide 
advice on the potential impact of the UK’s withdrawal from the EU and the Euratom Treaty on 
the management of radioactive waste in the UK.  
 

1.4 CoRWM were asked specifically to identify if there are likely to be gaps in the current legal and 
regulatory coverage of radioactive waste management post Brexit.  

 

1.5 In the event of gaps being identified, CoRWM were asked to consider what new legislation or 
regulatory arrangements would be required to ensure that the scope of the current regulatory 
controls is maintained or, where possible, improved. 

 
2.  Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM) Key Findings and Advice 

 
2.1 CoRWM assessed the impact of the UK’s withdrawal from the European Union and the Euratom 

Treaty on the management of spent fuel and the management of radioactive waste in the 
United Kingdom. 
  

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

2.2 They looked at the requirements placed on the UK’s legislative and regulatory environment 
arising from the key European Union/Euratom Directives and regulations in the area of spent 
fuel and radioactive waste management.  

 

2.3 The report advised that there are related areas of EU law which may effect radioactive waste 
management, for example environmental impact assessment, strategic environmental 
assessment, habitats and protected species, and the water framework directive however 
CoRWM did not analyse these areas, as they are general issues, not specific to radioactive waste 
management.  

 
2.4 In respect of radioactive waste and spent fuel management, CoRWM have not identified any 

major significant gaps between the current arrangements within the UK and those that will 
continue to be in place post Brexit.  

 

2.5 CoRWM believes that in the context of the safe management of spent fuel and the safe 
management of radioactive waste, withdrawal from the European Union and the Euratom 
Treaty should have no major impact.  

 

2.6 The current arrangements that are in place within the UK are robust and provide a 
comprehensive legal framework for the protection of workers, the public and the Environment 
and are in compliance with the requirements of the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) 
Joint Convention, of which the UK is a Contracting Party and is therefore subject to its 
requirements and the associated international scrutiny. 

 

2.7 CoRWM identified some areas requiring consideration by the UK Government, but none which 
appear to require fundamental change to primary or secondary legislation to ensure the delivery 
of an equivalent regime to that currently in operation in the UK.  

 

2.8 These are specifically in the areas of ongoing co-operation, such as research, notification, 
information-sharing, and transboundary movement of radioactive waste and spent fuel.   

 

2.9 A full copy of the CoRWM report to Government, its findings and suggestions to address these 
issues can be accessed by using the link below: 

 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/702809/3381_Impact_on_Radioactive_Waste_Management_from_the_UKs_Withdrawal_from_the
_EU_and_the_Euratom_Treaty_CoRWM.pdf 

 

Page 14

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/702809/3381_Impact_on_Radioactive_Waste_Management_from_the_UKs_Withdrawal_from_the_EU_and_the_Euratom_Treaty_CoRWM.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/702809/3381_Impact_on_Radioactive_Waste_Management_from_the_UKs_Withdrawal_from_the_EU_and_the_Euratom_Treaty_CoRWM.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/702809/3381_Impact_on_Radioactive_Waste_Management_from_the_UKs_Withdrawal_from_the_EU_and_the_Euratom_Treaty_CoRWM.pdf


 

 
Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board 260618 
 
 

Consultation on the Regulation of Nuclear Sites in the Final Stages of Decommissioning and 
Clean - Up 
 

  
LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham 
REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Smith 
 

Summary and Recommendation: 
 
In May the UK Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) launched a 
consultation on proposals to amend the legislation that underlies the regulatory 
framework for nuclear sites in the final stages of decommissioning and clean - up.  
The closing date for responses is 3rd July.  
 
This report is to seek Members views for consideration for inclusion in the Council’s 
response and to delegate sign-off of the final response to the Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Chair of SNEB and the Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and Corporate 
Services.  
  

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 On 8th May, the UK Government Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 

Strategy (BEIS) launched a consultation to seek views on proposals to amend the 
legislation that applies to UK nuclear sites in the final stages of decommissioning 
and clean up. A copy of the full consultation document and the associated impact 
assessment is available via the following link 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-regulation-of-nuclear-sites-in-
the-final-stages-of-decommissioning-and-clean-up.  
Hard copies are available for Members on request. 

 
1.2 BEIS working with the regulators, the Office for Nuclear Regulation (ONR), the 

Environment Agency (EA), the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and the Nuclear 
Decommissioning Agency (NDA) have identified an opportunity to amend the 
legislation (the Nuclear Installations Act 1965) that applies to the final stages of 
nuclear site decommissioning and clean up. The aim is to create ‘a more sustainable 
approach to waste management and land remediation’. 

 
2. The current legislative framework 

 
2.1 The 1965 Act sets out the framework for nuclear safety and nuclear third party 

liability with a system based around a licencing process managed by the ONR. This 
regime requires a site operator to have a license to use a site for specific activities 
related to, for example, nuclear power generation and requires that financial 
provision is in place to meet claims in the event of a nuclear incident, as required 
under international law on nuclear third party liability. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-regulation-of-nuclear-sites-in-the-final-stages-of-decommissioning-and-clean-up
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-regulation-of-nuclear-sites-in-the-final-stages-of-decommissioning-and-clean-up


 

2.2 The work undertaken has identified that through the early stages of decommissioning 
of a nuclear reactor site, after the removal of spent fuel and higher activity wastes, 
the radiological hazards on the site are reduced by 99%. It is suggested that regulation 
under the site licensing regime and nuclear third party liability regime are no longer 
warranted. From an international perspective the Steering Committee for Nuclear 
Energy of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) have 
also recently taken the decision that sites in the process of decommissioning may be 
excluded from the international nuclear liability regime, when the main nuclear 
hazards have been removed and the risks to the public are small. 
 

2.3 The figure below summarises the regulatory regime and shows the key stages that 
must be reached before a site operator can relinquish its responsibilities under the 
current framework. 

 

 
 

3. Case for change 
 

3.1 In summary, the main reasons for change are: 
 

 Nuclear third party liability currently continues beyond the point at which it is no 
longer required. (The UK has not yet implemented the decisions of the OECD 
Steering Committee for Nuclear Energy concerning the exclusion of certain sites 
from the nuclear liability regime);  

 

 Site operators wishing to exit the NIA65 licensing regime are required to clean-up 
the site in a way that does not allow them to balance the overall safety and 
environmental risks and this may result in unnecessary costs; and 

 

 Disposal facilities for radioactive waste located on nuclear licensed sites remain 
subject to nuclear licensing. Such sites are also regulated by the environment 
agencies. It is considered that dual regulation is unnecessary after nuclear safety 
matters have been resolved. 

 
 
 
 

Page 16



 

3.2 In addition change would allow; 
 

 bringing the UK in line with internationally agreed standards for ending the period 
of responsibility for nuclear third party liability; 

 

 ensuring that the site is regulated by the most appropriate regulators in each stage 
of the decommissioning process; 

 

 ensuring sustainable clean-up of sites and allowing earlier re-use; 
 

 removing the barriers to construction of disposal facilities on nuclear sites. 
 
4. Principles for the development of consultation proposals 
 
4.1 In formulating the proposals, Government and the environment agencies have built 

them around the following principles: 
 

 there must be no relaxation in the standards for public protection - the proposals 
align with UK radiological protection law, international standards and Public 
Health England guidance; 

 

 the proposals must respect the statutory principles of good regulation; 
 

 sites must remain under appropriate regulation; and 
 

 a rigorous procedure must be used for assessing the wider benefits and risks of 
different clean-up options, so that the best overall solution can be found for each 
site 

 
5. Consultation proposals in summary: 
 

i. The proposal is to change the NIA65 to allow licensees to exit the licensing regime 
once the site has reached internationally agreed standards and nuclear safety and 
security matters have been fully resolved. 

 
ii. After the licence has been ended, the site would be regulated by the relevant 

environment agency and the Health and Safety Executive (HSE), in the same way 
that non-nuclear industrial sites undergoing clean-up for radioactive or other 
contamination are regulated. Proposals for further clean-up would be assessed by 
the relevant environment agency under the Radioactive Substances Regulations. 
This process would enable the site operator to work with the community to 
establish the most appropriate end state for the site and would result in improved 
waste management and other environmental benefits. 

 

iii. The proposals would allow ONR to exclude certain disposal facilities for radioactive 
wastes from the nuclear licensed site, if it is content that nuclear safety and 
security matters have been fully resolved. The facilities would be regulated by the 
relevant environment agency and HSE and the relevant environment agency 
would be responsible for deciding when nuclear third party liability should end.  

 

Page 17



 

iv. To allow these changes to take place, UK Government would need to implement 
two recent decisions by the OECD Steering Committee for Nuclear Energy 
concerning the exclusion of certain sites from the nuclear third party regime. 

 

v. The proposal would also tighten the licence surrender process to require a licensee 
to apply to ONR to surrender the licence and strengthen requirements for ONR to 
consult with HSE when the licence is surrendered or varied. 

 
It is important to note that, after any decisions to end special liability requirements under 
the international nuclear third party liability regime, legal liability regimes for third party 
damage or injury would remain available under UK law. 
 
6. Way Forward 
 
6.1 Following the receipt of consultation responses Government have recognised that 

further work will be required which would be centred around drafting new legislation 
to amend the 1965 Act and assessing the impacts and potential changes required to 
secondary legislation.  

 
7. Previous consultation 
 
7.1 In November 2016 UK Government published a discussion paper on the regulation of 

nuclear sites in the final stages of decommissioning and clean up. A copy of the 
relevant report to SNEB from January 2017 is attached as Appendix A.  
 

7.2 From the responses received most recognised that the proposals could provide a 
more flexible approach to nuclear site clean-up, applicable to a wide range of sites 
with different end-states with the potential to optimise waste management. Issues 
identified by respondents including the need for transparency with local communities 
and close engagement with local authority planners. 

 
8. Status of nuclear decommissioning in UK 
 
8.1 Of the 36 sites in the UK with nuclear installations 17 are within the NDAs programme 

for decommissioning and clean-up. Most of those sites will follow the staged process 
in Figure 1 below, the final stages of which involve the dismantling and demolition of 
redundant buildings and land remediation such that a suitable end state is achieved.  

 

 

Page 18



 

8.2 Optimising the final stages of decommissioning and clean up involves finding the ‘best 
overall solution’. Optimisation is the process which brings the site to a condition such 
that radiation exposure is as low as reasonably achievable. Applying optimisation will 
ensure that that radioactive waste and contamination are managed in a way that is 
safe but may not necessarily lead to all radioactivity being removed from the site, 
although this will almost certainly vary from site to site.  
 

8.3 In some instances it may be appropriate to remove all ALL waste and residual 
contamination from the site for disposal or management elsewhere. This will have 
impact on costs and the movement of materials. At the other end of the spectrum it 
may be optimum to leave the some waste or contamination in suit or use it to refill 
voids on site rather than bringing in clean spoil for infill purposes. 

 
9. Proposed changes to the regulatory framework 
 
9.1 This consultation proposes that the regulatory framework be amended such that 

ONR would be able to relinquish regulation of a site once content that the risks from 
the site have fallen below internationally agreed criteria and that there are no other 
nuclear safety or security concerns. Such a site would, in effect, no longer be a 
‘nuclear’ site. 
 

The figure below shows the proposed framework for the regulation of nuclear sites; 
 

 
 
9.2 Under the proposed framework: 
 

 The nuclear third party liability regime would cease to apply when ONR was 
satisfied that the site had met the Paris Convention Decommissioning Exclusion 
criteria. The ending of the period of responsibility would not mean that the 
owner or occupier of the site has no liabilities or responsibilities to third parties. 
When the nuclear liability regime ceases to apply, third party liability (under 
ordinary law) would then apply to the site, providing an alternative but 
nevertheless still robust legal regime for third party damage or injury. 

 
 

Page 19



 

 Separately and potentially at a later date, the site operator would have to apply 
to ONR to surrender the site licence. ONR would be able to accept the surrender 
of the licence once content that the period of responsibility for nuclear third 
party liability had ended and that nuclear safety and security were no longer a 
concern. ONR would consult with HSE and the relevant environment agency 
before taking this decision. 

 

 Once the site licence has been revoked, the health and safety of work activities 
on the site would be regulated by HSE. 

 

 Any further site remediation, and waste management and disposal, would 
continue to be regulated by the relevant environment agency, until the site 
operator could demonstrate to the satisfaction of the relevant environment 
agency that the RSR permit could be surrendered (indicated as “Site Reference 
State” in Figure 6). 

 

 The site operator could apply to ONR to exclude certain disposal facilities from 
the nuclear licensed site. ONR would consult with HSE and the relevant 
environment agency before taking a decision and would accept the application if 
satisfied that nuclear safety and security matters had been resolved. The 
relevant environment agency would determine the period of responsibility for 
these facilities. 

 

 Low level waste disposal facilities which meet stringent internationally agreed 
requirements would be excluded from the requirement for nuclear third party 
liability. 
 

10. Expected benefits from the proposals 
 
10.1 The final stages of nuclear decommissioning and clean-up are dominated by 

environmental remediation. These proposals would: 
 

 allow ONR to concentrate their specialist nuclear safety skills on sites which 
require this expertise; 

 

 ensure that the site is regulated by the most appropriate regulators in the final 
stages of decommissioning and clean-up. These are HSE for worker safety and 
the environment agencies for environmental protection and radioactive waste 
disposal. Site operators would therefore be working to a single set of 
environmental standards and regulations (the Radioactive Substances 
Regulations), rather than being required to consider two sets as they do at 
present.  

 

 enable the operators to optimise the end states, on a site by site basis, in 
consultation with local stakeholders and under regulation by the relevant 
environment agency; 

 

 remove the current disincentives to construct disposal facilities on nuclear sites, 
rather than off-site, for example, on greenfield land. This would constitute better 
use of land and would reduce transport costs and risks; and 

 

Page 20



 

 allow certain low level waste disposal facilities to be excluded from the nuclear 
third party liability regime, thereby saving costs. 
 

10.2 At sites for which the optimum end state is different to the currently proposed end 
state, the proposals would result in additional benefits, including: 

 

 avoiding unnecessary remedial work, and allowing substructures and soils to 
remain in place, where it has been demonstrated that this represents the 
optimal solution for the site; 

 

 a significant reduction in the generation of radioactive and conventional waste 
and the risks to workers and the public associated with excavation and transport 
of these wastes; 

 

 a reduction in pressure on the existing disposal facilities; 
 

 cost savings from reduced excavation and transport of waste; and potentially, 
 

 earlier re-use of sites for recreational purposes or redevelopment. 
 
11. Consultation questions 
 

11.1 Government are seeking comments from stakeholders against the following 
questions; 

 
 

12. Next steps 
 

12.1 Members are asked to identify any specific issues to be included in the Council’s 
response to the above consultation. Subject to Members agreement it is proposed 
that the final draft will be signed-off by the Chair of SNEB and the Portfolio Holder for 
Nuclear and Corporate Services in consultation with the Chief Executive and 
submitted by the closing date of 3rd July.  

Page 21



 

 
Appendix A 

 
Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board 120117 

 
 
Regulation of Nuclear Sites in the Final Stages of Decommissioning & Clean Up 
   
LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham  
REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Smith  
 
 

Summary and Recommendation: 
This report informs Members of the publication of a discussion paper on the development 
of the policy, legislative and regulatory framework that relates to the regulation of 
nuclear sites in the final stages of decommissioning and clean-up.  
 
Recommendation: Members are asked to note the report and the NuLeAF draft response 
to the consultation on the informal discussion paper. 

 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) is responsible for 

the development of policy, legislation and regulation of nuclear energy and nuclear 
installations across the UK.  

 
1.2 This includes the policy, legislative and regulatory framework that relates to nuclear 

site decommissioning and clean-up. 
 

1.3 A discussion paper published in November 2016 sets out the Government 
preference for a more flexible approach to decommissioning the determination of 
end-states and approaches to waste management. 

 
1.4 The Government is seeking views from stakeholders to ensure any subsequent 

development of policy in this area is well informed prior to undertaking formal 
public consultation.  

 
1.5 Views are being sought from all relevant stakeholders with a particular interest i.e. 

local communities in the vicinity of existing nuclear sites, nuclear operators and 
liability owners, local authorities and members of the nuclear industry (including 
the radioactive waste management supply chain). 

 
2. Background 
 
2.1 Working with regulators and the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority, the 

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy has identified an opportunity 

to improve current arrangements that apply to the regulation of the final stages of 

nuclear site decommissioning and clean-up. 

Page 22



 

 

2.2 There are 37 licensed nuclear sites located across England, Wales and Scotland, 

each comprising one or more nuclear facilities. 

  

2.3 A subset of these sites (17 sites including Sellafield) have been designated by UK 

Government to the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA) for decommissioning 

and clean-up.  

 

2.4 The discussion paper summarises the proposals that have resulted from work 

undertaken so far by the NDA working with the regulators to explore ways in which 

the final stages of decommissioning and clean-up might be optimised, in particular, 

to explore how the regulatory regime might allow a range of potential end states to 

be considered.  

  

2.5 The document describes: 

 the current regulatory arrangements that apply and the implications and 

consequences if they continue to apply as now; 

 the proposal for changes to improve current regulatory arrangements, and the 

potential benefits and downside of any such changes; and 

 Government’s views on developing and implementing the proposals. 

 

2.6 The discussion paper can be viewed following the link below: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/565

233/Discussion_Paper_3_November_2016_.pdf 

 
3. Consultation 

 
3.1 The consultation period for this informal discussion paper ended on 29th December 

2016 
 

3.2 Once responses to the discussion paper have been considered and if the UK 
Government decides to take forward the proposals, BEIS aim to publish a formal 
public consultation in early 2017 

 

3.3 NuLeAF (the Nuclear Legacy Advisory Forum) who are the Local Government 
Association (LGA) representative body on legacy wastes and decommissioning, of 
which Copeland Borough Council is a supporting Member, drafted a response to this 
consultation on the informal discussion paper. 

 

3.4 Attached as Appendix 1 is the draft response from NuLeAF that was circulated to its 
Members for comment. Members are asked to note this response. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/565233/Discussion_Paper_3_November_2016_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/565233/Discussion_Paper_3_November_2016_.pdf


 

Appendix 1 
 
Regulation of Nuclear Sites in the final stages of Decommissioning and Clean-up:  
NuLeAF Comments on discussion paper 
 
1. Introduction 
 
NuLeAF (the Nuclear Legacy Advisory Forum) is the Local Government Association (LGA) 
representative body on legacy wastes and decommissioning.  NuLeAF is directly 
supported by around 100 local authorities and national park authorities across England 
and Wales and speaks for the wider local government community.  Our remit 
encompasses all aspects of the management of the UK’s nuclear waste legacy.  Our 
primary objectives are: 
 

 to provide a mechanism to identify, where possible, a common, local government 
viewpoint on nuclear legacy management issues; 

 to represent that viewpoint, or the range of views of its member authorities, in 
discussion with national bodies, including Government, the NDA and the regulators; 

 to seek to influence policy and strategy for nuclear legacy management in the 
interests of affected communities; and 

 to develop the capacity of its member authorities to engage with nuclear legacy 
management at a local level. 

 
Our member local authorities cover all nuclear sites in England and Wales that would be 
affected by any changes to regulation. This is therefore an issue of great interest to them. 
We have engaged with Government and the regulators as work on Proportionate 
Regulatory Controls (PRC) and the related Guidance on the Requirements for Release of 
Nuclear Sites from Radioactive Substances Regulation (GRR) has evolved.  
 
In particular, we have drawn on the expertise of our Radioactive Waste Planning Group 
(RWPG), made up of professional planning officers from across the NDA sites. They have 
been able to advise Government and regulators on the planning implications of any 
changes, and the limitations of the planning system as a mechanism for regulating sites 
after the nuclear licence is revoked. Our response to this discussion paper is informed by 
the RWPG and by discussion with our members on how proposals may affect plans for 
NDA sites. 
 
2. General comments  

 
NuLeAF believes that the framework for the clean-up of NDA sites must guarantee public 
safety and environmental health, ensure public confidence, deliver the desired next use 
of the site and avoid any future ambiguities and uncertainties. These factors, not a desire 
to reduce costs, must be the driver for any legislative change.  
 
The statement that a new approach ‘offers the potential for a more sustainable approach 
to clean-up work, thereby enabling earlier reuse of sites, avoiding unnecessary generation 
of radioactive waste…and reducing the transport of waste’ (1.4) gives a degree of 
reassurance on this. However, the approach taken will need to be transparent and 
designed to deliver truly sustainable outcomes. There must be early and effective 
engagement with local government and communities. If waste is left in situ, this must not 
impact adversely on future use of the site.  

Page 24



 

 
The discussion paper notes the possible role of planners and local authorities after the 
site is delicenced. Throughout this process we have been concerned that there has not 
been a full appreciation of what the planning system can and cannot do in this context 
and so we are pleased that it is confirmed that ‘none of the proposals would involve the 
relevant environment agencies passing on any of their regulatory remit for environmental 
protection and improvement to the local authority.’ (1.40). 
 
We would still appreciate a clear explanation of how it is anticipated that Local 
Development Plans, planning permission, covenants or Section 106 agreements could be 
utilised in this context. For more information on this we would refer you to our 
Consultation response and to our recent submission to NDA and BEIS based on a 
discussion between our RWPG members and a consultant working on these matters. 
 
3. Response to questions 
 

1. Do you agree that the UK Government proposals set out in this paper should 
enable a more flexible approach to nuclear site clean-up that takes account of a 
range of possible site end states and opportunities to optimise waste 
management? If not, why not? 

 
Yes, the proposals should lead to a more flexible approach as it will enable options 
not currently possible, such as the leaving of some structures or waste in situ.  
 
However, the question should be whether this more flexible approach will lead to 
better outcomes for host communities and the environment. While we welcome 
the statement (1.45) that the proposed changes have the potential for ‘enabling 
earlier reuse of sites’, there is a risk that the leaving of some material or structures 
on a site may impact on the next planned use of the site, to the potential 
detriment of local people.  

 
2. What should the UK Government be mindful of when developing proposals to 

implement the changes discussed in this paper? 
 

As initial media coverage of this Discussion Paper has highlighted, there is and will 
continue to be some concern as to the real motivation for this work. Many will 
have a suspicion that cost savings are at the heart of the proposed changes, rather 
than environmental protection or community well-being. 
 
Government, the NDA and regulators must therefore set out clearly: 

 The process by which assessment of the benefits of leaving residual 
radioactive contamination on site will be made. This must be transparent 
and shared with local authorities and the community. While we accept that 
cost will always be a factor, the primary driver for any changes must be the 
optimum environmental and Health and Safety outcomes, for example 
through the reduction in lorry movements or the limiting of worker 
exposure to risk. 

 The means by which local communities and councils will be engaged in 
discussions on any changes and the impact they might have on the site or 
its next planned use. We note that the paper states that ‘optimisation 
requires good communication... with the regulators and members of the 

Page 25



 

public, especially the local community.’ (1.42) We would add ‘local 
authority’ to this list. We also believe that not just communication but 
effective engagement is required. 

 The role of Local Planning Authorities in the management of site. As noted 
above, planners require reassurance that the scope for using planning 
controls to help manage sites after the licenced with revoked is fully 
understood. 

 How any cost savings derived from decisions to leave waste in situ will be 
reinvested? While 1.45 notes that significant reductions in the cost of 
clean-up ‘could be re-invested for other benefits’, we believe that there 
should be a clear commitment that cost savings benefit the host 
community either directly or as part of wider NDA operations. This is 
essential given that cost savings are likely to be the result of leaving 
contamination on site that was previously earmarked for removal. 

 
3. Do you agree that legislative changes are likely to be needed to realise the 

opportunity set out in this paper? If not, what more could be done under the 
existing regulatory regime? 
 
As the paper sets out, there are currently impediments to the leaving of materials 
in situ. We therefore accept that legislative change will be required if this proposal 
is to be realised. 
 
Any legislative change must be subject to proper scrutiny, enabling all concerns to 
be discussed in an open and transparent way.  

 
4. What other changes could be made to realise the opportunity set out here? 

 
Our members are still not clear as to the exact process of the Lead and Learn sites 
and how this will feed into the PRC work and vice versa. We would welcome the 
provision of more information on the Lead and Learn sites. 
 

 
I hope these comments are helpful. 
 
Yours faithfully, 

 
 
Philip Matthews 
Executive Director 
07949 209126 
 
 

Page 26



1 
 

 
 

Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board 260618 
 
 
NuLeAF Work Programme 2018/19 
  
LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham 
REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Smith/Cath Little 
 
 

Summary: 
 
This paper provides Members with a summary overview of the role of the Nuclear Legacy 
Advisory Forum (NuLeAF) and informs Members of the key components of the draft NuLeAF 
Work Programme for 2018/19 
 
Recommendations: 
1. Members are asked to note the current draft NuLeaf work programme for 2018/19 and to 
agree to support continued Membership 
 

 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 NuLeAF is a Special Interest Group on Radioactive Waste Management and Nuclear 

Decommissioning established in 2003 under the auspices of the Local Government 

Association   (LGA) which as Members will know is a cross-party organisation that works 

on behalf of councils to ensure local government has a strong, credible voice with 

national government. 

 

1.2 The Borough Council was one of the original members of NuLeaf in 2003 when it was 

recognised that there was a need to develop an organisation that could speak for Local 

Government at a national level on nuclear legacy management. The forum ‘seeks to 

ensure effective communication and information sharing amongst local authorities’. It 

consults its members on issues of national nuclear waste and legacy management that 

are brought forward from such bodies as the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA), 

the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS), the Committee on 

Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM) and Radioactive Waste Management (RWM).  

 

1.3 A Steering Group meets 4 times a year. Additional sub-group meetings and topic specific 

meetings are also arranged along with an annual seminar.  

 

1.4 NuLeAF has an elected Chairman and Vice-Chair – the current Chair is Councillor 

Brendan Sweeney of Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council and Councillor David Monk of 

Page 27

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

Shepway District Council is Vice-Chair. The Borough Council has previously held the 

position of Chair. Councillor David Moore as the Executive Portfolio Holder for Nuclear 

matters is the Councils representative on the Steering Group 

 

1.5 There are two types of membership:- 

Contributing members, as the name suggests, contribute financially to NuLeAF. The 
Council’s current membership fees is £665 per year. Contributing members form the 
Steering Group and are eligible to vote on issues, manage NuLeAF business and 
represent the Forum on outside bodies. 

Corresponding members do not contribute financially.  These member authorities are 
kept informed of NuLeAF’s work, are consulted by the Steering Group on radioactive 
waste management issues and are invited to participate in NuLeAF 
seminars.  Corresponding member opinion is reflected in submissions and positions 
adopted by the Forum.  They are welcome to attend the Steering Group meetings, but 
do not have voting rights. 

For current Membership please see appendix 2 

 

2. Draft NuLeAF Work Programme 2018/19 
 

2.1 Set out below as appendix 1, is a summary draft work programme for 2018/19 which 
was signed off at the NuLeAF Steering Group in March 2018 subject to having a section 
on accelerated decommissioning added.  
 

2.2 This summary includes NuLeAF’s ongoing commitments to organise meetings and 
support members and a range of other activities identified through an analysis of the 
forward work programme of the UK and Welsh Government, NDA, SLCs and regulators 
and discussions with NDA and RWM. 
 

2.3 The proposed work has been grouped under three headings – core support for 
members and engagement on their behalf with RWM and NDA.  

 

2.4 Once this draft work programme has been finalised, a detailed Service Plan will be 
produced including performance measures (in terms of Outputs and Outcomes) and 
reporting processes. 

 

2.5 The NuLeAF Service Plan 2018-19 will be circulated to all SNEB Members once it has 
been finalized and published. 

 
  

Page 28



3 
 

Appendix 1 
 
Work programme for 2018-19 
 

1. Core support for NuLeAF members 
 

1 Continue to engage with NDA, Sellafield, Magnox, the regulators and host Local 
Authorities on site restoration, interim and end states and Intermediate Level Waste 
treatment/Fuel Element Debris storage.  
 

2 Continue to assist member authorities as appropriate to ensure that effective 
engagement arrangements exist with Sellafield, SLCs and NDA, to ensure 
appropriate socio-economic support for communities.   

3 Engage further in dialogue with EDF Energy to discuss their plans for 
decommissioning and the role that host communities and local authorities could 
play.  
 

4 Monitor other relevant national and local policy development; report on 
engagement opportunities to members.  Prepare and submit NuLeAF comments as 
appropriate.   

5 Continue to support the interests of member authorities impacted by Spent Nuclear 
Fuel and radioactive waste storage and disposal issues as a consequence of new 
nuclear build, and to continue to liaise with the New Nuclear Local Authorities Group 
as appropriate. 
 

6 Monitor implementation of recommendations arising from Fukushima accident.  
Consider other safety and security issues relevant to radioactive waste management 
and decommissioning, where these have implications for local authorities. 

7 Continue to monitor work on the Submarine Dismantling Project as the project 
moves into the delivery phase.  Report issues and progress to NuLeAF Steering 
Group and Radioactive Waste Planning Group. 
 

8 Hold Steering Group and Radioactive Waste Planning Group meetings throughout 
the year, inviting speakers and submitting papers on topics of interest to the 
membership. 

9 In consultation with members, respond to appropriate consultations by government 
and other bodies. 
 

10 As appropriate, prepare briefing papers to inform the membership on topics of 
interest, and to provide a resource to members. 
 

11. Publish our newsletter and e-bulletin and continue to operate our highly successful 
Twitter feed and LinkedIn group which offer regular updates to our members and 
stakeholders on the GDF process, and the work of RWM, BEIS and NDA.  
 

 
 

Page 29



4 
 

2. Work programme with RWM 

Ongoing  

Steering Group and Radioactive Waste Planning Group 

1 Offer RWM opportunities to engage directly with our members through our Steering 
Group and RWPG. Our meetings provide a readily available forum for discussion and a 
sounding board that RWM can use as and when required, for example in the testing 
of materials. 
 

Communication and engagement  

2 Disseminate information, via our social media and communications, on the progress 
with the GDF siting process and the relevant work of the NDA, RWM and 
Government.  We will also prepare articles and information for the RWM e-bulletin 
and blog as requested. 
 

3 Maintain a site on the LGA’s Knowledge Hub, the UK’s largest platform for Elected 
Members and staff to share knowledge, discuss issues and develop initiatives, with 
180,000 members. This provides a range of information on the GDF siting process and 
the wider issues around nuclear decommissioning and waste management. 
 

4 Draft an article on the launch of the GDF siting process for Local Government First, 
the main magazine of the LGA with a readership of many thousands.  
 

 

Pre-Launch of Siting Process 

Stakeholder engagement and support for local government ahead of launch of siting 
process 

5 We will: 

 Continuing to work with RWM and BEIS to help disseminate information through 
DCN, CCN, ADEPT and SOLACE 

 Maintain regular dialogue with key officials within the LGA and explore the scope 
for engagement with relevant LGA Boards and other fora 

 Assist RWM in defining the routes to engagement with elected members, 
officers, other public and private bodies in individual communities; and ensuring 
that the messaging used is appropriate and clear 

 Provide advice to enable RWM to knowledgeably undertake its direct 
engagement activities with any individual local authorities by providing summary 
briefings prior to meetings taking place. 

 

6 Raise awareness of the presence of RWM at the LGA Conference 2018 amongst 
NuLeAF members.  We can also offer wider support to RWM in seeking meetings 
with individual local authorities and will be available to help support the RWM stand. 
 

Testing of Materials 

7 With a Steering Group and expert planners group (RWPG) that meet regularly, 
NuLeAF offers a bespoke resource for the testing of RWM resources and materials as 
they develop. Based on our current understanding, in 2018/19 there may be 

Page 30



5 
 

opportunities for our members to advise on the planned Prospectus and Community 
Guidance along with briefing materials RWM is planning to prepare for communities 
considering entering the siting process 
 

8 Local government has a unique insight and understanding of the financial issues 
around community investment and local economic development. NuLeAF proposes 
to hold a workshop on these issues, for example the implications of the GDF for 
business rates or for local community revenues if the planned repository is located 
off-shore. 
 

Support for the Welsh siting process 

9 NuLeAF participated in a Welsh Government meeting on the GDF siting process in 
early 2017 and will submit responses to the planned Welsh consultations on the GDF 
framework. NuLeAF will continue to work with RWM, the Welsh Government, Welsh 
LGA and our Welsh local authority members to encourage participation in future 
engagement events and to support any Welsh authority entering the process. 
 

Support for RWM organisational readiness 

10 In the current financial year NuLeAF’s Executive Director has participated in RWM’s 
organisational readiness review and met regularly with RWM and BEIS to advice on 
the GDF siting process. In 2018/19 it is proposed that NuLeAF: 
 

 Meet with RWM regional managers and frontline staff to brief them and discuss 
local government structures, means of operation and approaches to 
engagement. In advance of the meeting NuLeAF will prepare a short briefing on 
local authorities; 

 continue to meet regularly and to liaise with others in RWM, including the GDF 
Siting and Engagement Director and Chief Policy Advisor, as appropriate; and 

 Continue to assist RWM in drafting communication materials on the GDF by 
providing direct feedback or hosting meetings between RWM and NuLeAF 
members. 
 

 
 

Siting Process Launch 

Launch Event 

11 If requested by RWM, NuLeAF can host an event at a Steering Group or RWPG 
meeting to mark the launch of the siting process; or can assist RWM or BEIS in any 
plans they have for a stand-alone launch event. We will also participate in the 
webinar that RWM is considering as part of the GDF launch. 
 

12 While it now looks unlikely that the official launch of the GDF siting process will 
coincide with the 2018 LGA conference, NuLeAF can work with RWM to organise an 
event at the 2018 LGA conference to raise awareness of the GDF siting process in 
the lead up to launch. 
 

 

Page 31



6 
 

Post-Launch of Siting Process 

Support for RWM and for local authorities entering the GDF siting process 

13 NuLeAF will act as contact point for local authorities, supporting them, advising 
them on particular issues that arise, and feeding back concerns to RWM. 
 

14 There is scope for NuLeAF to support the siting process through: 

 Sitting on individual siting partnerships. NuLeAF sat on the West Cumbrian 
MRWS partnership and could fulfil this role on those partnerships established 
as part of the new process. This would provide an independent local 
government voice and also enable learning, insights and advice to be shared 
between local siting partnerships 
 

 Assisting RWM’s regional managers to respond to queries and information 
requests from local authorities 

 

 Acting as a ‘challenger’ and ‘critical friend’ for RWM 
 

 Supporting ongoing communications through: 
o Monitoring the local government press to ensure accurate reporting of GDF 

policy developments and a balanced representation of the costs and 
benefits of geological disposal and responding as necessary 

o Assisting in the production of other information materials including a 
‘corrections and clarifications’ service to quickly rebut misinformation or 
misunderstandings about geological disposal 

o Using our Knowledge Hub, LinkedIn and Twitter feed to promote a 
balanced view and forum for debate. As an independent voice, separate 
from the developer or Government, NuLeAF’s communications are more 
likely to be trusted by local authorities and communities. We therefore 
have scope to debate issues on social media and challenge inaccuracies in 
reporting of GDF issues in an effective and credible way. 
 

 Exploring with RWM and relevant local authorities the potential for hosting an 
‘annual gathering’ of GDF communities in which they could share experiences 
and engage with RWM and Government 
 

 Undertaking, either directly or through commissioning a third party, an 
independent annual review of the siting process from a local government 
perspective. 

 

Participation in ENWD/GMF and international engagement 

15 NuLeAF has, for a one-year trial, joined the GMF (Group of European Municipalities 
with nuclear Facilities), which includes those local authorities across the continent 
with nuclear facilities. Of particular interest is the ENWD (European Local Network 
of Radioactive Waste Dialogue). NuLeAF membership of the GMF/ENWD enables 
local authorities involved in the UK siting process to participate in meetings and 
share experiences and understanding with their counterparts from elsewhere in 
Europe. It also has potential for the organisation of local government led visits to 

Page 32



7 
 

GDF developments outside the UK. These will be very useful in helping local 
government understand the issues around the concept of ‘community’, the means 
of engaging the local population, and their questions around community 
investment, engineering and geology. NuLeAF could co-ordinate and help organise 
and support overseas site visits. 

 
3. Work programme with NDA 2018-19 

Steering Group and Radioactive Waste Planning Group 

1 Offer NDA opportunities to engage directly with our members through our Steering 
Group and RWPG. Our meetings provide a readily available forum for discussion and 
a sounding board that NDA, Magnox and LLWR can use as and when required, for 
example in the development of strategies or guidance or the evolving plans for the 
clean-up of individual NDA sites. 
 

 

Support for the delivery of Strategy III 

2 NuLeAF is an active member of the NDA’s Theme Overview Groups (TOGs) on 
Integrated Waste Management, Site Decommissioning and Remediation and Critical 
Enablers; we also liaise with the Nuclear Materials/Spent Nuclear Fuels TOG and 
report on that group’s work to our members. We will continue to advise and support 
NDA in delivering Strategy III, providing a voice for local government and reporting 
and updating local authorities on key issues. We will also attend and share 
information on other NDA meetings as required. 
 

 

Development of a Radioactive Waste Strategy 

3 NuLeAF has long advocated greater integration in radioactive waste strategy and 
policy. We therefore welcome the production of an integrated radioactive waste 
strategy, covering HAW and LLW.  This work has potential implications for planning, 
economic development and for communities. We will continue to engage with NDA 
to address certain concerns or issues that may arise – and work with BEIS on their 
review of radioactive waste policy and infrastructure. Our Steering Group and 
Radioactive Waste Planning Group (RWPG) will provide advice on these issues and 
we will respond in detail to all relevant consultations. 
 

 

Support for ongoing work on Proportionate Regulatory Controls (PRC) 

4 NuLeAF worked closely with BEIS, the NDA and the environment agencies to advise 
on proposed reforms to institutional controls on nuclear licensed sites. Of particular 
value in this has been the role of our Radioactive Waste Planning Group, which 
provides an expert forum for discussion of the planning implications of changes to 
controls, and an advisory group on the technical challenges of, for example, using 
Section 106 agreements to control sites after the license has been surrendered. 
Work on the PRC will develop over coming years, and the role of the RWPG will 
continue to be crucial.  Also of interest to our members are the ‘Lead and Learn’ 
sites. Local authorities will be involved in the work underway at Trawsfynydd, 

Page 33



8 
 

Winfrith and Dounreay and there will be much learning to share. We will continue to 
work with NDA, BEIS and regulators, providing advice and building capacity as 
required. We also plan to organise a local authority visit to one of the ‘Lead and 
Learn’ sites in 2018/19. 
 

 

Support for NDA work on Socio-economics and skills 

5 NDA is required to ensure its work impacts positively on the socio-economic 
condition of communities. This is supported by the Energy Act 2004 and the Public 
Services (Social Value) Act 2012, under which all public authorities must have regard 
to economic, social and environmental well-being. This year also saw the publication 
of the UK Government’s Industrial Strategy with a commitment to a Nuclear Sector 
Deal which will seek to capitalise on the UK’s expertise in decommissioning 
technology and skills.  NDA is developing site specific socio-economic strategies and 
wishes to ensure the future availability of workers with all necessary skills to deliver 
the NDA mission and help maintain sustainable communities. Local authorities have 
an important role to play through their involvement in education and skills and in 
supporting local economic development. NuLeAF provides a forum for NDA to speak 
with Council leaders and senior officers. 
 

6 In 2018/19 we propose to host a discussion with NDA on the skills needs of nuclear 
communities and how councils can assist NDA in skills development.  As noted 
below, we will also use our international contacts to develop plans for an 
international meeting on nuclear decommissioning. 
 

7 Successful engagement on socio-economics also requires that NDA presentations 
and information materials are developed with a full appreciation of the policy 
framework for local government and the timescales and methods used by councils in 
making decisions. It will also necessitate the use of appropriate language and 
terminology and make links to other work. NuLeAF can offer guidance on this. 
 

8 NuLeAF can engage the wider local government network on nuclear 
decommissioning, for example LGA Boards, ADEPT (Association of Directors of 
Environment, Economy, Planning and Transportation), the County Council and 
District Council Networks and the Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs). 
 

 

NDA stakeholder engagement review  

9 NDA has undertaken a review of stakeholder engagement and NuLeAF has been 
involved throughout this process. A clear message from NuLeAF members is that 
there is a need for more and better direct engagement between NDA, SLCs and the 
planning and economic development functions of councils and their political 
leadership.  NuLeAF’s Steering Group and RWPG provide bespoke forums for such 
engagement and NuLeAF will continue to work with NDA to utilise these to maximum 
benefit. An early example of this has been the recent meetings around the Magnox 
Decommissioning Strategy, which have been informative and of benefit to both NDA 
and councils. 

Page 34



9 
 

 

Support for NDA’s Stakeholder Summit 2018 

10 NuLeAF worked closely with NDA to encourage local authority attendance at the 
2017 Stakeholder Summit in Cumbria, and to manage accommodation and catering 
needs. This contributed significantly to the event, with representatives of almost 
every local authority that hosts an NDA site present, compared to only a very limited 
number at the comparable event the year before.  In 2018/19 NDA propose a similar 
event, to be held at South Gloucestershire and Stroud College in July. Again, NuLeAF 
will encourage participation from local authorities and manage their transport and 
accommodation needs. We can also assist in the organisation of a visit to an NDA 
site if appropriate. 
 

 
 

International meeting of local authorities 

11 In 2017, NuLeAF joined the Group of Municipalities with Nuclear Facilities (GMF), a 
pan European network of local authorities that host nuclear sites. The GMF also 
supports a network of councils interested in geological disposal, the ENWD. 
The GMF has agreed to work with NuLeAF and NDA to organise a gathering of 
European municipalities as part of the NDA Stakeholder Summit. This will enable 
NDA to showcase its work in decommissioning and socio-economics, and facilitate 
an international dialogue on nuclear legacy issues, of benefit to all involved. It will 
also promote the UK’s expertise in nuclear technologies in line with the aspirations 
of the recent Industrial Strategy. 
 

 

Work with Magnox 

12 Over recent years NuLeAF has regularly raised with Magnox the varying experiences 
of NuLeAF members in engaging at a local level. Some local authorities have called 
for more effective interaction between Magnox and host planning authorities in 
relation to planning proposals (prior notifications, planning applications and 
variations) for nuclear licensed sites as they are cleaned up and prepared for next 
planned use.  More widely, some NuLeAF members have felt there is a lack of clarity 
as to how individual planning applications fit with Magnox’s overall Lifetime Plan for 
each site or how they are linked to national strategy.  NuLeAF has been in discussion 
with Magnox to address these issues. In response it has been agreed that an annual 
meeting is held, involving NuLeAF members and senior Magnox staff. The first such 
meeting is planned for summer 2018. The format is likely to be based on ‘round 
table’ discussions around a pre-agreed agenda. There could also be scope for 
presentations on specific areas of interest – for example a presentation by NuLeAF 
to Magnox on the current framework for land use and waste planning to build 
Magnox understanding of how they can effectively engage in the planning cycle; or 
an overview from Magnox on their strategy and plans for individual sites. 
 

 
 
 

Page 35



10 
 

Low Level Waste Management 

13 Over recent years NuLeAF has been working closely with LLWR and the supply chain 
to address the concerns of some councils regarding engagement on LLW. This has 
been successful. We now host an annual meeting with LLWR, NDA and the supply 
chain to provide a forum for discussion on forward plans for LLW management. We 
also use our Radioactive Waste Planning Group (RWPG) to discuss requirements 
under the Duty to Co-operate 
 

 

Communication and engagement  

14 NuLeAF has a critical role in building the capacity and understanding of nuclear 
decommissioning among local authorities. This helps councils to engage effectively 
with NDA, RWM and Government and is thus very useful to the industry.  We will 
continue to prepare briefings and information materials along with our newsletter 
and e-bulletin, and to operate our highly successful Twitter feed and LinkedIn group. 
These provide regular updates to our members and stakeholders on the work of 
NDA, BEIS and RWM. 

15 We have established a site on the LGA’s Knowledge Hub, the UK’s largest platform 
for Elected Members and staff to share knowledge, discuss issues and develop 
initiatives, with 180,000 members. This provides a range of information on the GDF 
siting process and issues around nuclear decommissioning and waste management. 
 

16 As an LGA body, NuLeAF is able to place articles in Local Government First, the main 
magazine of the LGA with a readership of many thousands. 

 

Local authority plans 

17 Previously, many local authorities with NDA sites or related facilities in their area did 
not have clear policies on radioactive waste in their local plans or waste plans. 
Through the work of NuLeAF and our RWPG this has changed, with benefits for 
communities and the industry. NuLeAF will continue to monitor and report on 
radioactive waste policies in local plans, and to respond to consultations and advise 
local authorities as appropriate. 
 

 

Consultation responses 

18 NuLeAF will continue to develop detailed and considered responses to all relevant 
consultations from the UK and Welsh Government, NDA, RWM and others. 

 

Other work 

19 NuLeAF has prepared a briefing for members on SMRs and their possible impact on 
plans for NDA sites and on the radioactive waste inventory. We will continue to 
engage on this issue as proposals develop. 

20 With some EDF stations nearing the end of their operational life, NuLeAF has hosted 
an initial dialogue between members and EDF. We will build on this in 2018/19. 
 

 

Page 36



11 
 

Appendix 2 

NuLeAF Member Authorities 

 

Allerdale Borough Council  
Arun District Council  
Ashford District Council  
Barrow Borough Council  
Birmingham City Council  
Blackpool Borough Council  
Braintree Borough Council  
Breckland District Council  
Broadland District Council  
Bromsgrove District Council  
Caerphilly County Borough Council  
Carlisle City Council  
Cornwall Council  
Chelmsford Borough Council  
Chesterfield Borough Council  
Cheshire West and Chester Council  
Colchester Borough Council  
Copeland Borough Council  
Cumbria County Council 
Dacorum District Council  
Denbighshire County Council 
Derby City Council  
Derbyshire Dales District Council  
Devon County Council  
Dorset County Council  
Dorset Fire and Rescue  
Durham County Council - corresponding 
Eden District Council - corresponding 
Essex County Council- contributing 
Flintshire County Council 
Forest of Dean District Council  
Forest Heath District Council  
Fylde Borough Council  
Gloucestershire County Council  
Great Yarmouth Borough Council  
Greater London Authority  
Gwynedd County Council  
Halton Borough Council  
Hampshire County Council  
Harlow District Council  
Hartlepool Borough Council  
Hyndburn Borough Council  
Kent County Council  
Kings Lynn & West Norfolk District Council  
Lancashire County Council  
Lancaster City Council  
Leeds City Council  
Leicestershire County Council  

Page 37



12 
 

Lewes District Council  
Liverpool City Council  
London Borough of Hackney  
London Borough of Harrow  
London Borough of Hillingdon  
London Borough of Newham  
London Borough of Tower Hamlets  
Maldon District Council 
Manchester City Council  
Melton Borough Council  
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service  
Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council  
Newport City Council  
Norfolk County Council 
North London Waste Plan  
Northamptonshire County Council  
North East Derbyshire District Council  
North Norfolk District Council  
Norwich City Council  
Nottinghamshire County Council  
Northumberland County Council 
Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council  
Oxfordshire County Council 
Pembrokeshire County Council  
Plymouth City Council  
Preston City Council  
Purbeck District Council  
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council  
Rutland County Council  
Scarborough District Council  
Sedgemoor District Council  
Shepway District Council  
Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council  
Somerset County Council 
South Gloucester Council  
South Ribble Borough Council  
Southampton City Council  
South Norfolk District Council  
Stroud District Council  
Spelthorne Borough Council  
Suffolk Coastal District Council  
Suffolk County Council  
Surrey County Council  
Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council  
Taunton Deane Borough Council  
Tendring District Council  
Tunbridge Wells District Council  
Vale of the White Horse District Council  
Wansbeck District Council  
Waveney District Council  
West Berkshire District Council  
West Lindsey District Council  

Page 38



13 
 

West Somerset District Council  
Worcestershire County Council  
Ynys Mon County Council 
 
National Parks Authorities 
 
Lake District National Park Authority 
North Yorkshire Moors National Park Authority 
Snowdonia National Park Authority 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board 260618 
 
 
Nuclear Projects Update  
  
LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham 
REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Smith 
 

Summary and Recommendation: 
 

This paper provides a summary update of key projects relating to the Councils nuclear 
activities specifically the Moorside Project, the North West Coast Connections Project and the 
Governments intentions for the provision of a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) for higher 
activity radioactive waste.  
 
1. Members are asked to note the current position in relation to the Moorside Project and the 
North West Coast Connections Project 
  
2. Members are asked in relation to GDF note the submission of the Council response to the   
Government’s call for evidence. 
 

 
1. The Moorside Project and North West Coast Connections Project 

 
1.1 Members will recall that in May 2017 NuGeneration Ltd announced a pause in the 

development of the Moorside project to allow for a ‘strategic review’. Following 
completion of the review and the decision by Toshiba to seek a new owner of the 
project, members will be aware from media coverage that KEPCO had been identified 
as the preferred bidder, although final confirmation of the deal is still awaited. Any 
further developments will be verbally reported to the meeting.  

 
1.2 As a consequence of the Moorside Project pause, work on the North West Coast 

Connections Project remains suspended with no recent activity to report. 
 
2. Geological Disposal Facility 

2.1 Members will recall from the previous meeting that Government had launched a 

consultation process (in January) seeking views on two aspects of the Governments 

‘Implementing Geological Disposal’ policy, around ‘Working with Communities’ and 

the ‘draft National Policy Statement (NPS) for Geological Disposal Infrastructure’. The 

Council responded to both and for reference the Council’s submission to the NPS 

consultation in April is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

2.2 Government has now commenced the internal scrutiny process of the proposals and 

on 25th May the Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy Committee launched an 

inquiry and call for evidence into nuclear waste disposal through the draft National 

Policy Statement. The inquiry into the draft NPS for Geological Disposal Infrastructure 

‘examines the objectives and scope of the guidance for those considering applications 

Page 41

Agenda Item 9



and the framework for granting development consents. It will also consider how it fits 

in with the Government’s Industrial Strategy and emphasis on regional growth’.  

Members may wish to find out more about the inquiry through the following link;  

 

https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-

select/business-energy-industrial-strategy/news-parliament-2017/geological-disposal-

inquiry-launch-17-19/ 

 

2.3 The Committee is inviting written submissions addressing any or all of the following 

questions: 

a) Are the draft National Policy Statement’s Assessment Principles and Impacts, 
including the requirement to take the Environmental Impact Assessment and the 
Habitats Regulation Assessment into account, adequate and comprehensive 
enough to inform development consent decisions? If not, how could they be 
improved? 

 
b) Should any other Assessment Principle or Impact, for example local community 

consent, be added to the list and, if so, why? 
 

c) What priority should each of the Assessment Principles and Impacts have or 
should equal weight be given to each of them? 

 
d) Are the Assessment Principles and Impacts consistent with the Industrial 

Strategy’s emphasis on regional growth? 
 
2.4 The closing date for written submissions was 15th June and in view of the timescales, 

the attached Borough Council (Appendix 2) response has been agreed with the Chair 

of SNEB and the Portfolio Holder prior to submission.  

Page 42

https://emea01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.parliament.uk%2Fbusiness%2Fcommittees%2Fcommittees-a-z%2Fcommons-select%2Fbusiness-energy-industrial-strategy%2Fnews-parliament-2017%2Fgeological-disposal-inquiry-launch-17-19%2F&data=01%7C01%7Csteve.smith%40copeland.gov.uk%7C6ddea3d6441347fc369108d5c53d981f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=CWdtxJ7mMVzJvowghhREhKR3fHhg7x6rJF44nTpUVrQ%3D&reserved=0
https://emea01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.parliament.uk%2Fbusiness%2Fcommittees%2Fcommittees-a-z%2Fcommons-select%2Fbusiness-energy-industrial-strategy%2Fnews-parliament-2017%2Fgeological-disposal-inquiry-launch-17-19%2F&data=01%7C01%7Csteve.smith%40copeland.gov.uk%7C6ddea3d6441347fc369108d5c53d981f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=CWdtxJ7mMVzJvowghhREhKR3fHhg7x6rJF44nTpUVrQ%3D&reserved=0
https://emea01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.parliament.uk%2Fbusiness%2Fcommittees%2Fcommittees-a-z%2Fcommons-select%2Fbusiness-energy-industrial-strategy%2Fnews-parliament-2017%2Fgeological-disposal-inquiry-launch-17-19%2F&data=01%7C01%7Csteve.smith%40copeland.gov.uk%7C6ddea3d6441347fc369108d5c53d981f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=CWdtxJ7mMVzJvowghhREhKR3fHhg7x6rJF44nTpUVrQ%3D&reserved=0


Appendix 1 

Response of Copeland Borough Council to UK Government’s Consultation on the National 
Policy Statement (NPS) for Geological Disposal Infrastructure (April 2018) 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Copeland Borough Council welcomes the opportunity to comment on the draft NPS for 

Geological Disposal infrastructure which sets out the need for nationally significant 
infrastructure projects related to the geological disposal of higher activity radioactive 
wastes in England and the Government’s approach to deliver them. Importantly it will 
provide the planning guidance for the developers of a GDF and for the Planning 
Inspectorate who will be charged with considering the Development Consent Order 
application from the developer and making the necessary recommendations to the 
Secretary of State. As such it is seen as an important tool for guiding the development 
of this key piece of national infrastructure. The challenge is to ensure that this NPS 
provides the necessary framework that allows the developer to design the facility at 
the same time as satisfying interested and impacted communities that all the 
appropriate issues, impacts and mitigations have been included. 

 
1.2 This response has been developed through a process of Council Member engagement 

that included a focused all Council Member workshop and consideration by the 
Council’s Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board, as well as the Council’s Executive. In 
addition, Council Members and officers attended a number of the Government led 
workshops held at various locations around the country and received a presentation 
from BEIS officials as part of the Government’s programme of engagement with 
Cumbrian communities on 19th March. Finally as members of NuLeAF (the Nuclear 
Legacy Advisory Forum), which is the Local Government Association (LGA) 
representative body on legacy wastes and decommissioning, the Council attended a 
workshop on 21st March where BEIS officials presented on the proposals for the NPS.  

 
1.3 Copeland Borough Council and the communities it represents have a long history of 

involvement with the nuclear industry stretching back over the last 70 years. The 
Borough is host to the Sellafield site, which currently hosts the vast majority of the 
waste identified within the inventory for a GDF. The Borough is also the host 
community for the National Low Level Waste Repository as well as the HQ for the 
Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA), the central laboratory for the National 
Nuclear Laboratory (NNL), the National College for Nuclear northern facility, various 
University-led research and training facilities as well as being the home of the Centre 
for Nuclear Excellence (CoNE). In view of the above we believe that Copeland Borough 
Council is well qualified and experienced to provide an informed view on proposals for 
the disposal of higher activity radioactive waste through the provision of a GDF. 

 
1.4 Finally, the Council will also be responding to the ‘Working with Communities’ 

consultation and would point out that there is a cross-over between our comments 
made for both consultations. 

 
 
 
 

Page 43



 
2. General Comments 
 
2.1 Copeland Borough Council is supportive of the Government’s aspiration to seek a 

solution to the long-term management of higher activity radioactive waste in the UK. 
We accept that a GDF in the right location is currently accepted as the most secure 
means of achieving disposal in the national interest and this is the Council’s priority. 
However we also note the conclusion of the Committee on Radioactive Waste 
Management (CoRWM) in 2006, which highlighted the need for continued research in 
alternative waste management options whilst recommending that GDF was the best 
approach currently available. As noted previously the Sellafield site in our Borough 
hosts over 70% of the legacy wastes identified for inclusion within the inventory for a 
GDF. The current arrangements for the management and storage in facilities on the 
Sellafield site is both expensive for the public purse and presents a significant 
environmental risk for communities in our Borough. The identification of a permanent 
long-term solution for the disposal of these wastes is of paramount interest to local 
communities and has been for many decades, noting that previous attempts to 
identify a solution have not gained community or political support. Copeland Borough 
Council is supportive of the approach to identify a location based on the voluntarism 
principle and the involvement of all tiers of local government, including, where they 
exist, Parish Councils.   

 
2.2 Copeland Borough Council fully supports the decision of Government to designate the 

GDF, and its associated infrastructure, as a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project 
(NSIP) and would suggest that there is no more important nationally significant project 
than this one. On this particular point Copeland Borough Council takes the view that 
the level of awareness of the need for this project across the general population is 
poor and the attempts by Government to raise the profile of the project appear to 
have had little impact. Without a better understanding of the need for this project 
across the general population, and the opportunities that it could present, then it is 
the Council’s view that the chances of finding a willing community, and getting the 
support it needs, are diminished.   

 
2.3 Copeland Borough Council strongly advocates that the process going forward requires 

much more active and effective engagement and collaboration with all tiers of local 
government and local stakeholders generally through both the siting process and the 
development consent process and this should be reflected within the NPS.  

 
2.4 In addition, we would suggest that as the vast majority of the waste destined for the 

GDF is located in our Borough and would therefore need to be transported to a GDF, 
the Government should recognise that Copeland Borough has a role to play in the 
future siting process regardless of the final destination for the waste. The current draft 
of the NPS is silent on this point. We strongly believe that this should be recognised 
and confirmed within the NPS as the potential transportation of the waste is a key 
issue for the developer and the planning inspectorate to consider and in any event is a 
key issue for any potential volunteering community to be aware of.  
 

2.5 We would also make the point that as Copeland is the current host community for the 
waste, and noting the fact that the development of a GDF could take up to 25 years to 
commence, there is a fundamental obligation on Government to commence a dialogue 

Page 44



with the Borough Council and local communities now on a range of potential support 
mechanisms to be made available to the current host community, similar to those to 
be made available to the future host community. This point is made in the context of 
the continued growth in surface storage at Sellafield as wastes are moved from other 
locations in readiness for disposal to a GDF, wherever that might be located.     

 
2.6 Under Section 60 of the Planning Act, local planning authorities have the scope to 

prepare local impact reports on the development in their area and these must be 
given the appropriate weight in considerations by the Secretary of State. Reflecting on 
comments above the impact of the movement of the waste from the Sellafield site to 
a selected site elsewhere in the UK will have significant impacts for Copeland Borough, 
and to a lesser degree for those local authority areas through which the waste will be 
transported. It is therefore essential that the consultation process around the DCO 
allows for Copeland Borough Council, and potentially other impacted local authorities 
to submit their own impact reports, and this needs to be reflected in the final NPS 
document. 

 
2.7 This NPS consultation process is being managed by BEIS, not the Ministry for Housing, 

Communities and Local Government (HCLG). There is a recognised critical weakness in 
the approach to radioactive waste planning issues in the apparent disconnect between 
the land use planning system for conventional waste and that for radioactive waste. It 
is vital that, in relation to the GDF, there is effective cross-departmental working 
between BEIS and HCLG throughout the siting process. 

 
2.8 It should be noted that Copeland was one of only two voluntary communities who 

participated in the previous unsuccessful process to develop a GDF, the Managing 
Radioactive Waste Safely (MRWS) process which came to an end in Jan 2013. 
However, it is important to clarify that Copeland Borough Council has currently no 
formal view on the preferred location for the siting of a GDF and will not form a view 
until the Council has had a full opportunity to consider the Governments approach to 
the siting process after it has been launched. 

 
2.9 Taking into account the above comments, the following is a list of key issues that the 

Council expect the NPS to address; 
 

a) Does the NPS provide the planning context and the full range of issues that will allow 
the developer to design a GDF proposal and allow the Planning Inspectorate to 
assess the proposals for Development Consent? 
 

b) Does the process allow for the full range of impacts on the local community to be 
recognised and addressed through mitigations? 

 
c) Are there sufficient benefits for the local community to offset impacts? 

 
d) Is there clear involvement in the process for all stakeholders and the community?  

 
e) Is there clarity on the technical issues that relate to the planning process including 

the definition of what is a waste and how changes to the inventory can be tracked 
over such a long timescale? 

 

Page 45



f) Is there a clear understanding of the process to identify the infrastructure 
implications of developing the GDF? 

 
g) Is there a clear understanding of where the waste is currently stored and the 

implications of moving the waste to a GDF facility? 
 

h) Timelines clearly stated for all key stages of the development, construction and 
operation of the facility.  

 
3. Response to consultation questions 
 
3.1 Draft National Policy Statement 
 

Question 1 - Does the draft NPS provide suitable direction to the Planning 
Inspectorate and Secretary of State on the need for geological disposal 
infrastructure? 

 
Copeland Borough Council is generally accepting of the need arguments articulated in 
the consultation document but has a number of comments to make regarding some of 
the need categories. 

 
In relation to technical need, this Council notes that Geological Disposal is the 
internationally accepted solution for the disposal of higher active radioactive wastes.  
There has been much debate during recent processes regarding monitoring and 
retrievability and the definition of wastes to be included in the inventory. These are 
likely to still be issues for any volunteering community in the future. Recognising that 
the final disposal solution might not be available for many decades to come there is a 
need to continue to work on defining what will eventually be determined as a waste 
and thus the extent of the inventory by the time work commences on the facility.  
 
In terms of the ethical need, this Council fully accepts the argument that this issue is 
one that should be dealt with now and not left for future generations. We would 
therefore encourage Government to continue to invest in the process and to bring 
forward the solution at the earliest opportunity, recognising the timescale constraints 
imposed by the voluntarism approach. We also expect that in ethical terms the 
Government should be seeking to dispose of the least amount of waste possible, using 
waste minimisation processes and employing the best available knowledge and 
investing as necessary in new technical solutions to ensure that this is achieved.   
 
This Council fully accepts the legal need to bring forward a solution to the long-term 
management of higher radioactive wastes. Additionally the Council is supportive of the 
Governments ambitions around energy and climate change objectives and 
understands the need for a solution to be identified for the management of higher 
activity wastes, produced by a new fleet of nuclear power stations. 
 
In relation to the need for deep boreholes this Council accepts that they are an 
essential part of the process, as decisions for the siting process need to be based on 
the best available information. Additionally this Council expects that all known 
geological data is used to assist in the siting process. The Council’s key concern about 
utilising deep boreholes is that they may be employed too late in the siting process to 

Page 46



provide the detailed information about site suitability, when the negative blight 
impacts of ‘volunteering’ have already taken hold.  
 
In an attempt to make the need case more understandable the Council also suggests 
that this section should include; 
 

 A summary of the present location and distribution of higher activity wastes 
across the country 
 

 A summary of the current position on storage of such wastes (including those 
stored at Sellafield) and the expected lifetime of those stores and investment 
required to maintain storage capability before a GDF comes on stream. This 
should include the impacts that interim storage has on host sites and the process 
by which waste will be moved from where it is now and emplaced within the 
GDF. 

 

 More explanation on how the multiple barrier approach would be expected to 
prevent harmful levels of radioactivity reaching the surface, and over what 
timescales. 

 

 The NDA’s current work, following the conclusion of the Committee on 
Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM) in 2006 which highlighted the need 
for continued research in alternative waste management options, specifically 
options for the near surface disposal of some of the higher activity waste 
inventory should be explained along with the likely impact of this on proposals 
for a GDF.  
 

 An explanation of the Government’s position on the issues of monitoring the 
waste and potential for retrievability.  

 
Question 2 - Do the assessment criteria adequately address the principles that the 
developer, the Planning Inspectorate and the Secretary of State should take into 
account in an application for development consent? If not, what further information 
on the assessment criteria is required? 

 
Chapter 4 of the document identifies that the development of a GDF will have 
significant impacts on the environment, economy and communities and outlines a 
number of principles to guide the design, environmental impacts, health safety and 
security aspects of the development. In general, Copeland Borough Council supports 
the principles, but would add a number of additional comments, as below. 
 
Whilst Copeland Borough Council agrees with the concept of ‘good design’ we would 
also note that the facility is to last for many decades into the future and so will need to 
be designed to be attractive, durable and adaptable to changing circumstances that 
are bound to occur over such long timescales. The Council would also expect to see 
reference in the principles around good design that the applicant should consider the 
need for infrastructure to enable construction of the facilities and the movement of 
the waste from existing storage sites (including the bulk of the inventory which is 

Page 47



currently stored on the Sellafield site in Copeland Borough – the ‘current host 
community’), and 
the proximity of the facility to designated sites including for example National Parks 
and World Heritage Sites.  
 
In relation to sections 4.9 Safety, 4.10 Health and 4.11 Security and in recognition of 
the scale and scope of this project we would expect to see reference to the need for 
the Planning Inspectorate and then the Secretary of State being assured that the host 
community are satisfied that these issues have been dealt with adequately and to the 
communities satisfaction.  

 
Question 3 – Does the draft NPS appropriately cover the impacts of geological 
disposal infrastructure and potential options to mitigate those impacts? Please 
provide reasons to support your answer. 
 
Copeland Borough Council believes that this section addresses some of the likely 
impacts of geological disposal infrastructure and sets out reasonable options to 
mitigate against them. However, there are some areas that we believe need to be 
included and or expanded upon, and that we would expect the developer and the 
Planning Inspectorate to consider.  
 
Copeland Borough Council takes the view that there is likely to be significant impact on 
those communities in immediate and close proximity to the site in a number of ways, 
including the potential to blight property values. This will be a key issue for many 
residents recognising the very extensive lead in times for the development and will 
need to be mitigated through the inclusion of a property compensation scheme or 
similar at an early stage within the process. We would advocate a separate section in 
Chapter 5 on ‘residential amenity’ and would suggest an expanded section 5.9.5 to 
consider the full range of community impacts brought about by the development but 
also the construction process for the development including the potential impact on 
health facilities, leisure provision, retail activities and social/cultural matters.  
 
Copeland Borough Council also believe that the impact on the local economy needs to 
be given greater recognition within the draft document. The likelihood of an area 
becoming less attractive to other commercial activities not associated with the 
radioactive waste management sector and the key functions of the GDF gives serious 
cause for concern and needs to be adequately identified within the document. We 
would also expect reference to be made to the impact on the ‘brand’ of particular 
areas especially those relying on a visitor economy not just in terms of the facility itself 
but also the impact on the visitor economy brought about by the construction process. 
We believe that the document rightly points out that applicants should describe 
existing socio-economic conditions in consultation with those affected and show how 
the development’s socio-economic impacts correlate with local planning policy. It is 
also right that applicants should assess any likely positive and negative socio-economic 
impacts. 
 
Additionally the impact of the excavations and the spoil produced needs to be 
explained further and the options for mitigation described. We would expect the 
Planning Inspectorate to want to know how spoil is to be managed either on site or 
removed from site and the implications for visual amenity and highway infrastructure.  

Page 48



 
The cumulative impact from proximity to other development sites or other hazardous 
facilities should also be included in this section. We would also encourage the 
Government to identify sequencing of infrastructure provision as a key issue and seek 
to ensure that an applicant has given due consideration to sequencing in the plans 
presented as a DCO application to ensure that infrastructure is provided prior to it 
being needed and not after the event. This will help greatly in minimising adverse 
impacts on local communities.  
 
In recognition of the fact that much of the waste is currently stored at the Sellafield 
site in Copeland Borough (the ‘current host community’) we would expect the NPS to 
include a reference to the impacts on that community of moving the waste to another 
location elsewhere in the UK, a process which is likely to take a number of decades to 
complete. 
 
We believe that in section 5.7 the developer should look to recruit locally from those 
impacted communities wherever possible, utilise local training facilities and adopt an 
approach to help support marginalised groups and individuals gain employment. Post-
construction we would expect the developer to assist the facilitation of alternative 
employment opportunities for affected individuals.  
 
We would also welcome a clear statement of the Government’s commitment to the 
range of other support intended to boost the local economy throughout the siting 
process, including the substantial investment in the community selected as the site of 
the GDF. The developer should work with the Government and Community 
Partnership to ensure that an integrated approach to investment and employment is 
taken, to deliver the maximum benefit possible and leave a lasting legacy to support 
the development of a local sustainable economy. 
 

3.2 Appraisal of Sustainability; Habitats Regulations Assessment 
 

Question 4 – Do you agree with the findings (of ‘likely significant effects’) from the 
Appraisal of Sustainability Report and the recommendations for enhancing the 
positive effects of the draft NPS? Please provide reasons to support your answer. 

 
Copeland Borough Council has no specific comments to make in relation to this 
question.  

 
Question 5 – Do you agree with the conclusions of the Appraisal of Sustainability 
Report? If not, please explain why. 
 
Copeland Borough Council has no specific comments to make in relation to this 
question.  

 
Question 6 - Do you agree with the findings from the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment Report for the draft NPS? Please provide reasons to support your 
answer 
 
Copeland Borough Council has no specific comments to make in relation to this 
question.  

Page 49



 
3.3 All documents 
 

Question 7 - Do you have any other comments on the draft NPS and the 
accompanying documents (Appraisal of Sustainability, Habitats Regulations 
Assessment)? 
 
The timescales for taking forward this project are considerably lengthy and 
commencement of construction could well be over 25 years away. In this time 
technologies and understanding of the disposal processes may well change. The 
magnitude of such change may warrant a review of the NPS and the current draft may 
need to address this issue. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 50



 
Appendix 2 

 
Inquiry: Draft National Policy Statement (NPS) for Geological Disposal infrastructure 

 
Written evidence submitted by Copeland Borough Council 

 
Written evidence submitted by Copeland Borough Council in response to BEIS Committee 
examination of draft guidance on the determination of nuclear waste disposal planning 
applications.  
 
 
1. Executive Summary 

 
1.1 As host community to the Sellafield nuclear site for over seventy years, together with 

the vast majority of the UK nuclear waste identified for disposal, Copeland Borough 
Council is well qualified and experienced to provide informed responses to the 
questions raised by the BEIS Committee 

 
1.2 The Council welcomes and strongly supports the need for comprehensive and robust 

guidance on the determination of nuclear waste disposal planning applications. A 
National Policy Statement (NPS) for Geological Disposal Infrastructure is a key part of 
such guidance however it will need to be supported by future guidance covering all 
aspects of radioactive waste not just those destined for a GDF. 

 
1.3 The NPS Assessment Principles and Impacts while comprehensive are not sufficient to 

adequately inform development consent decisions. The reasoning for this conclusion is 
set out below 

 
1.4 The principle of voluntarism is a central element of the Government’s approach to 

disposal of nuclear waste. This principle should be explicitly included as a NPS 
Assessment Principle, for the reasons set out below. The Council takes some comfort 
from the wording of question two, which indicates that this has already been 
recognised by the Committee 

 
1.5 Prioritisation of Assessment Principles and Impacts will inevitably occur, however it is 

the Council’s view that this prioritisation will need to take account of both the nature 
of the nuclear waste being disposed and the particular characteristics of each site. A 
single prioritisation for all applications would therefore be inappropriate 

 
1.6 Related to the above point, and of particular concern for the host community for the 

Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) will be recognition of those impacts that affect the 
current generation, and those that are of more relevance to the many subsequent 
generations that will inherit the GDF. Achieving balance between these impacts is a 
clear obligation for any nuclear waste disposal determination 

 
1.7 The Council believes that the Assessment Principles and Impacts are broadly 

consistent with the Industrial Strategy’s emphasis on regional growth on the basis that 
approval for nuclear waste disposal is very unlikely near major population centres, and 
is more likely in remote or less developed areas. The essential and necessary physical 

Page 51



and social infrastructure investment to enable such disposal can then also support the 
regional growth targeted by the Industrial Strategy   

 
1.8 In our response to the NPS consultation in April we pointed out that under Section 60 

of the Planning Act, local planning authorities have the scope to prepare local impact 
reports on the development in their area and these must be given the appropriate 
weight in considerations by the Secretary of State. The impact of the movement of the 
waste from the Sellafield site to a selected site elsewhere in the UK will have 
significant impacts for Copeland Borough, and to a lesser degree for those local 
authority areas through which the waste will be transported. It is therefore essential 
that the consultation process around the DCO allows for Copeland Borough Council, 
and potentially other impacted local authorities to submit their own impact reports, 
and this needs to be reflected in the final NPS document. 

 
1.9 If the BEIS Committee proceeds to oral evidence Copeland Borough Council would 

welcome the opportunity to attend and answer any questions the Committee may 
have.  

 
Recommendations: 
 

 That the Assessment Principles, guided by a rigorous AoS and HRA, promote best 
practice rather than simply seek to mitigate against adverse impacts 
 

 That Local Community Consent be added to the Assessment Principles 
 

 That further information is provided on the impacts of the GDF in relation to the 
management of material (rock and soil), transport infrastructure and socio-
economics as set out above. 

 

 That prioritisation of Assessment Principles and Impacts should take account of 
both the nature of the waste being disposed and the characteristics of each site.  

 
 
2. Introduction and context to the Council’s response 

 
2.1 Copeland Borough Council welcomes the opportunity to respond to this call for 

evidence. 
 

2.2 The Borough Council has a long history of engagement with the nuclear industry and 
the legacy wastes that have been produced on behalf of the nation’s needs. 

 
2.3 Copeland and its communities continue to oversee the management and storage of 

the country’s nuclear waste stocks with the expectation that a long term disposal 
solution for intermediate and higher level wastes is identified soon.  

 
2.4 The Council was a key partner in the previous process to identify a suitable site for a 

Geological Disposal Facility (the Managing Radioactive Waste Safely Process (MRWS)) 
and is the host community for all High Level Wastes and over 70% of the Intermediate 
Level Wastes. 

 

Page 52



2.5 We previously submitted responses to the Government’s consultations on the 
‘Working with Communities’ proposals and the consultation on the draft NPS in April 
2018. In our response in April to the draft we emphasised that the NPS would be an 
important tool in guiding this key piece of national infrastructure, recognising though 
that the development consent process will need to satisfy interested communities that 
all the issues, impacts and mitigations have been considered. We would emphasise 
that our views in this consultation cross-over with our comments made in the April 
consultations to both the Working with Communities and draft NPS.  

 
2.6 Additionally the Council fully supports the decision of Government to designate the 

GDF as a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) and would suggest that it is 
one of the most (if not the most) nationally significant project of all, yet sadly lacks the 
appropriate profile with UK residents. We strongly advocate that the process going 
forward requires much more active and effective engagement and collaboration with 
all tiers of local government and local stakeholders generally through both the siting 
process and the development consent process and this should be recognised within 
the NPS document itself. 

 
2.7 The Council is also a member local authority of NuLeAF (the Nuclear Legacy Advisory 

Forum) which is the Local Government Association (LGA) representative body on 
nuclear wastes and decommissioning and we attend many of the Steering Groups and 
sub-groups, specifically the Radioactive Waste Planning Group (RWPG) which is an 
expert forum for senior land use and waste planning officers from across England and 
Wales. As such some of our comments repeat some of the views expressed in the 
NuLeAF response.  

 
 
3. Evidence 

 
Response to questions posed by BEIS Committee 
  
Are the draft National Policy Statement’s Assessment Principles and Impacts, including the 
requirement to take the Environmental Impact Assessment and the Habitats Regulation 
Assessment into account, adequate and comprehensive enough to inform development 
consent decisions? If not, how could they be improved? 
 
Assessment Principles 
 
3.1 In our response to the draft NPS consultation in April we agreed that the document 

identifies that the development of a GDF will have significant impacts on the 
environment, economy and communities and outlines a number of principles to guide 
the design, environmental impacts, health safety and security aspects of the 
development. In general, Copeland Borough Council supports the need for clear 
principles, but would add a number of additional comments, as below. 

 
3.2 We also commented that whilst Copeland Borough Council agrees with the concept of 

‘good design’ we note that the facility is to last for many decades into the future and so 
will need to be designed to be appropriate and acceptable to its location, durable and 
adaptable to changing circumstances that are bound to occur over such long timescales 
and the facilities should aim to be exemplars of best design practice. The Council would 

Page 53



also expect to see reference in the principles around good design that the applicant 
should consider the need for infrastructure to enable construction of the facilities and 
the movement of the waste from existing storage sites (including the bulk of the 
inventory which is currently stored on the Sellafield site in Copeland Borough – the 
‘current host community’), and the proximity of the facility to designated sites including 
for example National Parks and World Heritage Sites.  

 
3.3 In relation to sections 4.9 Safety, 4.10 Health and 4.11 Security and in recognition of 

the scale and scope of this project we would expect to see reference to the need for the 
Planning Inspectorate and then the Secretary of State being assured that the host 
community are satisfied that these issues have been dealt with adequately and to the 
communities satisfaction.  

 
Impacts  
 
3.4 Copeland Borough Council believes that the NPS addresses some of the likely impacts 

of geological disposal infrastructure and sets out reasonable options to mitigate against 
them. However, there are some areas that we believe need to be included and or 
expanded upon, and that we would expect the developer and the Planning Inspectorate 
to consider.  

 
3.5 Copeland Borough Council takes the view that there is likely to be significant impact on 

those communities in immediate and close proximity to the site in a number of ways, 
including the potential to blight property values. This will be a key issue for many 
residents recognising the very extensive lead in times for the development and will need 
to be mitigated through the inclusion of a property compensation scheme or similar at 
an early stage within the process. We would advocate a separate section in Chapter 5 
of the NPS on ‘residential amenity’ and would suggest an expanded section 5.9.5 to 
consider the full range of community impacts brought about by the development but 
also the construction process for the development including the potential impact on 
health facilities, leisure provision, retail activities and social/cultural matters.  

 
3.6 Copeland Borough Council also believe that the impact on the local economy needs to 

be given greater recognition within the draft document. The likelihood of an area 
becoming less attractive to other commercial activities not associated with the 
radioactive waste management sector and the key functions of the GDF gives serious 
cause for concern and needs to be adequately identified within the document. We 
would also expect reference to be made to the impact on the ‘brand’ of particular areas 
especially those relying on a visitor economy not just in terms of the facility itself but 
also the impact on the visitor economy brought about by the construction process.  

 
3.7 Additionally the management of material (rock and soil), the impact of the excavations 

and the spoil produced needs to be explained further and the options for mitigation 
described. We would expect the Planning Inspectorate to want to know how spoil is to 
be managed either on site or removed from site and the implications for landscape 
character, visual amenity and highway infrastructure. This is likely to be significant, 
involving the movement of vast amounts of material, and requiring significant noise 
and dust mitigation. There is also the need to consider the allocation of potentially 
significant areas for stockpiling of material and the risk of land contamination from 
stockpiled material. 

Page 54



 
3.8 In recognition of the fact that much of the waste is currently stored at the Sellafield site 

in Copeland Borough (the ‘current host community’) we would expect the NPS to 
include reference to the impacts on that community of moving the waste to another 
location elsewhere in the UK. A process that is likely to take a number of decades to 
complete. 

 
3.9 We agree and support the suggestion that the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), 

Appraisal of Sustainability (AoS) and the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA), along 
with the associated Health Impact Assessment (HIA) must be given significant weight 
and be used to help guide the development in ways that apply the mitigation hierarchy 
of avoid, design out, minimise and as a last resort compensate for adverse 
environmental impacts. 

 
Recommendations: 
 

 That the Assessment Principles, guided by a rigorous AoS and HRA, promote best 
practice rather than simply seek to mitigate against adverse impacts 

 
Should any other Assessment Principle or Impact, for example local community consent, be 
added to the list and, if so, why? 
 
Assessment Principles 
 
3.10 We do believe that Local Community Consent should be added to the Assessment 

Principles. More widely, we do not believe that the link between the NPS and the local 
siting process, likely to involve several ‘volunteer’ communities, is adequately 
reflected in the draft. Without achieving community consent the notion of a ‘volunteer 
community will not be achieved.  

 
3.11 In our response to the consultation in April the Council noted the section of the draft 

NPS addresses some of the likely impacts of geological disposal infrastructure and sets 
out reasonable options to mitigate against them. However, there are some areas that 
we believe need to be included and or expanded upon, and that we would expect the 
developer and the Planning Inspectorate to consider, and one of those is community 
impact.   

 
3.12 Copeland Borough Council takes the view that there is likely to be significant impact on 

those communities in immediate and close proximity to the site in a number of ways 
(see sections 3.4 to 3.9 above). Given the extent of this potential impact the principle 
of achieving community consent is considered essential and should be added as an 
assessment principle. 
 

Impacts 
 
3.13 In addition to the above sections 3.4 to 3.9 more information is required on the 

transport infrastructure impacts of a GDF during construction and operational phases. 
Developers should be required to identify sources of materials required for 
construction and demonstrate that there is sufficient capacity within the local 
transport infrastructure at an early, pre-application phase. If significant new transport 

Page 55



infrastructure is required to support the GDF then this must be included in the 
proposals from the outset and placed in the public domain prior to submission of any 
application for development consent. Transportation of radioactive waste from where 
it is currently stored to the GDF is another significant consideration (see sections 3.2 
and 3.8 above). 

 
3.14 Minerals and Waste Strategic Planning Authorities will need to consider the impact of 

any GDF schemes in their waste management policies from both within and outside 
their area. Local planning authorities will also want to be aware of this. It would be 
helpful if developers were required to consider in their Site Waste Management Plans 
whether they consider the waste produced during construction - where this cannot be 
re-used or retained on site - can be accommodated within the host authority or 
whether they will be relying on waste management facilities from a neighbouring 
authority.  Consideration should also be given to the impact and control of sourcing 
and transporting the construction materials needed. 

 
3.15 The cumulative impact from proximity to other development sites or other hazardous 

facilities should also be included in this section. We also welcome the statement of the 
need to take account of the links between, and cumulative effect of different impacts, 
e.g. between transport, air quality and noise. We encourage the Government to 
identify sequencing of infrastructure provision as a key issue and seek to ensure that 
an applicant has given due consideration to sequencing in the plans presented as a 
DCO application to ensure that infrastructure is provided prior to it being needed and 
not after the event. This will help greatly in minimising adverse impacts on local 
communities.  

 
3.16 We believe that in section 5.7 the developer should seek to recruit locally from those 

impacted communities wherever possible, utilise local training facilities and adopt an 
approach to help support marginalised groups and individuals gain employment. Post-
construction we would expect the developer to assist the facilitation of alternative 
employment opportunities for affected individuals. We believe that section 5.7 should 
be amended to help maximise the employment and other gains for the host 
community. In 5.7.2, the developer should seek to enhance both employment and 
training - at present it simply states that they should consider the ‘likely requirements 
for training.’  The developer should not just ‘work with local resources and 
organisations to ensure employment opportunities … are effectively communicated,’ 
but should look to develop local skills and recruit locally wherever possible and adopt 
an approach to help marginalised groups and individuals gain employment. A skills 
engagement strategy for construction and operation should be proposed.  The 
strategy should include local authorities, which have a significant responsibility for 16-
19 education. 
 

3.17 A development such as a GDF, while creating new employment opportunities, may 
also result in a labour shortage for existing industries and businesses in an area. The 
developer should therefore be required to take this into account and consider what 
skills and training should be provided to enable the remaining local workforce to fill 
other vacancies. 

 
3.18 We would also welcome a clear statement of the Government’s commitment to the 

range of other support intended to boost the local economy throughout the siting 

Page 56



process, including the substantial investment in the community selected as the site of 
the GDF. We believe the NPS also needs to be strengthened in relation to socio-
economic impacts. A GDF should deliver substantial direct and indirect socio-economic 
benefits for any host community, and the overall balance of effects must be 
significantly positive. The developer should work with the Government and 
Community Partnership to ensure that an integrated approach to investment and 
employment is taken, to deliver the maximum benefit possible and leave a lasting 
legacy to support the development of a local sustainable economy. 

 
3.19 In our response to the Working with Communities the Council supported the need for 

a Right of Withdrawal (by both the community and developer) and a final Test of 
Support as required by the 2014 White Paper, although we expressed concerns about 
the timing of both. We believe that they are therefore fundamental to the operation 
of the GDF Siting Process and the application of this NPS. This suggests that the NPS 
should clearly map out and explain how the local siting and development consent 
processes will interact within individual areas. 

 
Recommendations: 
 

 That Local Community Consent be added to the Assessment Principles 
 

 That further information is provided on the impacts of the GDF in relation to the 
management of material (rock and soil), transport infrastructure and socio-
economics as set out above. 

 
 
What priority should each of the Assessment Principles and Impacts have or should equal 
weight be given to each of them? 
 
3.20 Prioritisation of Assessment Principles and Impacts will inevitably occur, however it is 

the Council’s view that this prioritisation will need to take account of both the nature 
of the nuclear waste being disposed and the particular characteristics of each site. A 
single prioritisation for all applications would therefore be inappropriate 

 
Recommendation:  
 

 That prioritisation of Assessment Principles and Impacts should take account of 
both the nature of the waste being disposed and the characteristics of each site.  

 
 
Are the Assessment Principles and Impacts consistent with the Industrial Strategy’s 
emphasis on regional growth? 
 
3.21 The GDF has the potential to bring a significant number of direct jobs to an area and to 

support local skills development and supply chains and, through the significant 
investment promised to the community that hosts a GDF, to develop local 
infrastructure to wider benefit. The GDF could therefore support and enhance a Local 
Industrial Strategy (LIS) and be integral to the work of the Local Enterprise Partnership 
(LEP) and the economic growth ambitions of local authorities. That said, it is likely that 

Page 57



the communities entering the GDF siting process will be outside the main urban 
centres and located in rural or peripheral areas of the country.  
 
 

Additional Comments 
 
3.22 We believe the NPS should be amended to enable more effective involvement of local 

authorities: 
 

 Under Section 60 of the Planning Act, local planning authorities will have the 
scope to prepare local impact reports on the development (1.1.3). These must be 
given proper weight in considerations by the Secretary of State, but local impact 
reports are only prepared at a relatively late stage in the process. The emphasis 
therefore should be on the promoter to engage much more during the pre-
application stage to provide local authorities with the information, time and 
support needed to inform the local impact reports. The NPS should make clear 
reference to this. 
 

3.23 To help understanding of the project, we would suggest: 
 

 It would be useful to provide more explanation on how the multiple barrier 
approach would be expected to prevent harmful levels of radioactivity reaching 
the surface, and over what timescales. 
 

 The NPS should illustrate the present distribution of Higher Activity Waste (HAW) 
within the UK and set out the urgent need to clean up high hazard facilities at 
Sellafield. It should note the role played by all communities across the country 
that currently play host to HAW stores and that the great majority of HAW, 
including the most hazardous material, is currently located at Sellafield and will 
remain there until a GDF is constructed.  

 

 The NPS should demonstrate in more detail why the GDF is seen as the best 
solution to this issue, and how this will continue to be reviewed, with other 
alternative solutions considered applying a Best Available Techniques (BAT) 
approach.  

 

 The NDA’s current work on options for the near surface disposal of some of the 
Higher Activity Waste (HAW) inventory should be explained along with the likely 
impact of this on proposals for a GDF. Discussion of near surface disposal may 
lead to a degree of uncertainty among potential host communities as to what 
they are being asked to accept. 

 

 More information should be provided on the current interim storage measures 
being taken (3.2.4). This should include the expected lifetime of current stores, as 
well as the impacts that interim storage has on host sites and the process by 
which waste will be moved from where it is now and emplaced within the GDF. 

 

 

Page 58



 Some potential host communities may wish to see a commitment to the 
retrievability of wastes. More information should be provided on why this is not 
viewed as appropriate. 
 

3.24 Finally, the GDF siting process is a voluntary one. It is perfectly possible that no 
communities will enter the process or be able to secure agreement to proceed 
through a Test of Support. The Government should set out what it intends to do in this 
eventuality. 

 
 
 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on  14 April 2018
	5 Copeland Borough Council Nuclear Position Statements 2018
	6 Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM) Report - Impact on Radioactive Waste Management from the UKs withdrawal from the EU and the Euratom Treaty.
	7 Consultation on the Regulation of Nuclear Sites in the Final Stages of De-Commissioning and Clean-Up.
	8 NuLeAF Work Programme 2018/19.
	9 Nuclear Projects Update.

